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Introduction

Kemble Water Holdings Limited (“the Company™) 1s the ultmate parent company of the Kemble Water Holdings group of companies {*the
Group") The pnncipal activity of the Company 1s to act as the holding company of the Group and it does not carry out any actwities beyond
this role

The principal actvity of the Group 1s the appointed supply of water and wastewater services to customers in London, the Thames Valley
and surrounding area, delivered entirely through its wholly owned indirect substdiary, Thames Water Utiliies Limited (“TWUL" or “Thames
Water”), in accordance with TWUL's Licence of Appointment References to "our” or “we™ in this repont relates to the actvities of the Group
including TWUL

In addition, the Group operates the following separately managed businesses

¢ A property business, which manages the Group’s property portiohie and the sale of land and other property that 1s no longer
required by the appointed business, and

« A commercial water retall business, which has been set up manly to take advantage of the opening of the water indusiry to
compeltion

As the performance of the Group 1s dependent largely on its appomted activities, this report makes reference to the performance of TWUL
In order to provide appropniate explanation as to the performance of the overall Group

The Group's management structure separates the Direclors of the Company, who are all Non-Executives, and have no role lo play in the
day to day running of the appointed business (although certain matters require the approval of the Company's board having regard to the
interests of s shareholders) In addition to their responsibilities to TWUL, the Executive Directors of TWUL also carry out work on behaif of
the Group There are controls In place to ensure that the day to day management of the appointed business 1s separated from the
commerclal water retall business

Unless otherwise stated, all current year data included in this report is for the year ended 31 March 2016 (“2016")
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Chairman’s review

We set ourselves ambitious targets for the 2015-2020 regulatory penod (*AMP6") and we are really pleased with what we achieved n the
first year We laid sohd foundations across the Company, putting us in a strong position to deliver our performance commitments for our
customers

Aler a comprehensive and competitive process, in August 2015 Bazalgette Tunnel Limted secured a licence to deliver the Thames
Tideway Tunnel, a landmark construction project which will transform London and its nvers The award-winming Thames Water team
responsible for the project worked with many stakeholders to overcome significant regulatory, legal, financial and nsk management hurdles
to get the project ready for the competitive tender process and deliver the best outcome for customers and the environment

To Iimprove our network and deliver a better service, our capital investment programme in 2015/16 exceeded £1 billion for the 1"
consecutive year and we plan to invest around £4 5 billion dunng AMP& Despite cur high level of sustained investment, our customers
benefit from the third lowest average annual combined bill in England and Wales at £367 Bills are now expected to remain at the same
level, before inflation, until at least 2020, even with the costs associated with the Thames Tideway Tunnel and our massive investment
programme

The changing industry

The industry 1s facing significant change Ahead of the non-household market opening up to competition In Apnl 2017, the spotlight 1s on
our enlire business as it gets ready for the biggest structural change in the water industry since privahisation Thames Water Utilities
Limited will transfer its responsibility to serve non-household customers and compete nationally to another dedicated Group company,
which will trade as Thames Business Services The Board has given its full support to pursue this strategy With less than a year to go
Thames Business Services 18 on track to be both competitive and fully comphant with the requirements of market opeming Thames Water
Utiliies Limited will remain the wholesaler providing drinking water and sewage services

Although we are at the beginning of the second year of this regulatory pericd, we welcome Ofwat's early engagement on its plans for 2020
and beyond, including Water 2020 There 1s polential for competition to be introduced in the treatment and disposal of sewage waste from
our treatment works There 1s also the possibility for greater trading of existing water resources between water companies, involving long-
distance transfers, and the introduction of competition in the supply of new water resources, where resource owners can compete with us
to sell water directly to retall companies

We will need to understand what makes a commercial business viable in these markets This brings with 1t opportunities to excel and
deliver more value for our customers In the face of significant reform we are remaining focussed on our pnmary role of providing safe and
reliable drinking water and wastewater services with good customer service The introduction of competition for household customers 1s
under active consideration and in the event that the Government decides to proceed with this proposal, we will work with stakeholders to
develop robust plans that will address the considerable challenges that this bold move would present the industry

Throughout this period of change, 1t Is vital that investor and customer confidence 1s mamtained Ensuring the value of our business assets,
the regulatory capital value (“RCV”) as agreed with Ofwat, remains predictable and transparent will allow finances to be raised in the most
economical way This will encourage stable investment, which benefits customers through lower and more stable bills With this in mund,
we welcome Ofwat's commitment to protect the RCV to the end of AMPS, but seek further clarity beyond 2020

Review of the year

Once again, it has been a busy year for Thames Water We mobilised our eight2¢ and Infrastructure Alhances, launched our new smart
meters to households in London and successiully reduced our pollution incidents by 49% in just one year We also met our leakage target
- close 1o our lowest ever - for the tenth consecutive year, meaning we have reduced leakage by mere than a third since 2004, and
achieved our main dnnkmmg water quality target for the ninth year in a row

Our Service Incentive Mechanism (“SIM”), the customer service measure set up by Ofwat, improved in the year from 726 to 76 7 While
this was a strong improvement and more than the industry average increase, we still remain in the lower quartile of the household league
table We are tocussing our efforts on securing a further improvement in our performance In 2016/17 and | am pleased to note that in the
tirst two months, performance has continued to improve

QOur ‘zero ncidents, zero harm, zero compromuse’ approach to health and safety continues to deliver positive results In 2015/16 we saw a
28% reduction n ‘lost time injuries’ following the roll-out of an array of new iihatives, meaning there has now been a 50% reduction in
work related injunes and ilinesses in the last three years

28 January 2016 was a histonic day for us as the Mayor of London, Bons Johnson, officially commussioned the Lee Tunnel, the UK’s first
super sewer, to protecl the River Lee from 16 milion tonnes of raw sewage per year As London's deepest tunnel, costing nearly £700
rnilion, it was declared 'storm ready’ by the Environment Agency in January
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Total Group profit after tax for the financial year has increased from £144 3 million to £470 5 million, driven principally through the followtng
factors

s Revenue growth of 2 2% pnncipally due to allowed annual price increases in conjunction with a shght nse in water consurmption
attnbutable to population growth,

s Anincrease In the sale of property held by the Group,

e  Fair value gains on the Group's financial investments, and

e Ataxcredit of £85 9m principally ansing due to a reduction in deferred corporation tax rates from 20% to 18%

Dividend payments received by the Company from TWUL in the year of £82 4 million (2015 £169 9m) have funded either Group external
debt service payments or working capital requirements for certain companies within the Group The Group has not paid a dividend or
interest to shareholders in respect of the current year (2015 £100 Om)

In addition to the water, wastewater and other related services provided by TWUL we have continued to focus on and grow the commercial
activities outside of TWUL Total revenues for these businesses have increased from £7 ¢ million to £7 8 milhion largely dnven by a growth
in the commercial services business, which now provides services to over 1,300 sites across Scotland

Future outlook

The Group's successful performance reflects our people’s dedication, hard work and commitment and | thank everycne for their significant
contnbution

We have ended the year well positicned to positively engage with the evolving regulatory landscape With the dynamic shifts in our

operating environment and the evolving needs of customers and stakeholders, | expect the upcoming peniod to be no less challenging
However, | maintain absolute conhidence in the Group’s abilty to thrive in these changing times

Gt

Sir Peter Mason KBE
Chairman

9 June 2016
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Strategic report
The Directors present their strategic report of the Kemble Water Holdings Limited Group for the year ended 31 March 2016

Business review

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Group 15 the appointed supply of waler and sewerage services through its wholly owned indirect subsidiary,
TWUL The Company's principal actiity 1s to act as the holding company of the Group

The three main segmenis o the TWUL business are

Retail. compnsing both the household and non-household Operating Companies and provides certain customer-facing
activities including billing and revenue collection within the Thames Valley region,

Water responsible for all aspects of raw water abstraction and treatment as well as the distnbution of high guality dnnking
water to household and non-household customers, and

Wastewater responsible for all aspects of wastewater collection, treatment and safe disposal

Whilst the appointed supply of water and wastewater services provides approxmately 98% of the Group's gross revenues, TWUL also
manages certain non-appointed activities including

«  property searches, mcluding the provision of information required by property developers,
» sale of gravel and other aggregates extracted through day-to-day operations, and
+ treatment of trade effluent and other septic wasle

In addition, outside of TWUL, the Group operates a property business to manage and optimise the value of the Group's property portioho,
and a commercial water retasl business incorporated to take advantage of the opering of the water industry to competition

Business strategy
The Group’s strategy 1s as lollows

s For the appointed business of TWUL, the aim is to deliver sale reliable services for customers while ensuring reasonable returns
for shareholders This means keeping customers’ bills as low as possible whilst investing efficiently in assets to ensure its
customers’ needs are me! now and in the future From a shareholder perspective, this means meeting and outperforming our
regulatory outputs and financial settlement to provide the returns they require and expect

»  Outside of the appointed business, the Group continues 1o provide property search services to conveyancers and homebuyers
The Group also retains a property services arm which focuses on the development and enhancement of the value of land and
sites that are no longer required for the appointed business, including disposal to third parties

« The Group participates In the wider business retail market through Thames Water Commercial Services Ltd (“TWCSL") which
acquired retail licenses for England, Wales and Scotland
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Principal risks and uncertainties

As the Group’s principal actrvity 1s the delivery of appointed water and wastewater services, the nsks of the Group are largely the same as
with those of the main subsidiary entity, TWUL

Managing the nsks that could prevent the achievement of TWUL's objectives 1s a core element of day to day business activiies This 1s
underiaken using a practical and flexible framework which provides a consistent and sustained approach to nsk evaluation TWUL's

approach reflects its status as a requlated utility providing essential services and operating as part of the Critical National Infrastructure for
the UK

The risk management framework

Under the framework, responsibility for effectiveness of the Group's nsk management policy sits with the KWH Board, with oversight on
behalf of the Board performed by the Group Audit Commitiee (“GAC")

The principal, key corporate nisks are reported to the Board each month
Approach to risk management

The systems of internal control and nsk management are designed to manage, rather than ehiminate, the nsk of falure to meet business
objectives and can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance against matenal misstatement or loss

Risk owners throughout the business identify and assess nsks and carry out nsk mitigatton actions In doing so, they are supported and
challenged by the R&CC As part of a continuous improvement approach, this year the levels of integration and performance in the
enterprise nsk management processes have been enhanced This includes implementation of a corporate nsk management tool, a new
nsk and controls policy and revised processes The nsk management process covers strategic, legal and regulatory, financial and
operational nsks, all inked to the corporate objectives Assessment of nsk considers the likelihood of the nsk matenalising and the potential
impact it might have This enables implementation of effective controls to manage nisks and consider further mihgation plans where
necessary The Group's nsk management approach considers nisks ansing in all parts of the business using both a bottem up and top
down approach

As the Group's performance 1s largely dependent upon the appointed business within TWUL the following nsk assessments are largely an
extract from the business review contained within the TWUL annual report and financial statements

Legal and Regulatory Environment

Risk description Risk impact What we are doing to manage the risk

Fallure to adapt to changes in the | The Water Act (2014) will enable non- | Compliance wath regulatory obhgations and
regulatory landscape due to the | household customers lo choose therr retall | competition law remain key areas of focus and
introduction of competition provider for water and sewerage services in | TWUL 15 working closely with Ofwat and the
England from Aprl 2017 To faciitate the new | Market Operator Services Limited (MOSL) to
market, Ofwat has set separate price controls | prepare the business for these changes

for retail and wholesale actvities
TWUL has a business transformation programme
If TWUL fails to make adequale preparations to | in place that 1s intended to meet all open market
operate in the new marketplace it could face | requirements on 1 Apnl 2017

challenges which could lead to a financial
penalty and reputational damage As part of the market readiness programme
TWUL 1s required to submit ‘Assurance Letters’ to
the Regulator at specified intervals between now
and market opening in Apnl 2017 An Assurance
Plan has been developed that includes external
assurance and the first letter was submitted in
February 2016
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Risk description Risk impact What we are doing to manage the nsk

Fallure to comply with key | TWUL 15 a highly regulated business with | The Group has a clear understanding of
regulation and legislation defined requirements from three mamn | regulatory and key legal obligations Compliance
regulators Otwat, the Environment Agency | with legislation 1s monitored through internal audit
and the Dnnking Water Inspectorate as well as | and  assurance  programmes Legislative
legal obligations Any non-comphance with | compliance alsc features strongly in the annual
applicable laws and regulations could result in | control self-certification process

prosecution, financial penalties and fines, or in
a worst case scenano loss of the Company’s
operating licence

Customer Service

Risk description Risk impact What we are doing to manage the risk

Failure to improve and maintain | Customers and stakeholders will become | Focus in 2015/16 has been on 1mproving
service levels dissatisfied if TWUL 1s unable to deliver the | interaction with customers and resolving 1ssues
level of service expected as quickly as possible This has yielded positive
results in 2015/16 but TWUL recogruses that it
in the penod 2015-2020 Qutcome Delivery | has more to do to meet stakeholders’ increasing
Incentives (“CDIs") have been introduced | expeciations

Performance 1s linked to financial penalty or
reward in some cases The Group manages incidents and events that do
anse through Executive led response teams o
Some of the largest potential penaltes TWUL | mimmise the impact to customers and to the
may Incur are attached to the service mcenbive | enviranment

mechanism ("SIM"), used by Ofwat to assess the
Company's relative customer service
performance Other key areas of focus are
leakage, supply interruptions or incidences of
low pressure caused by a lack of asset or
system resiience, sewer flooding and sewage
treatment works compliance

Operations, assets and people

Risk description Risk impact What we are doing to manage the risk

Loss of data or interruptions to key | The volume and complexity of cyber secunty | The Group has used mdustry experts to review
business systems threats are increasing and constantly evolving | the leve!l of matunty in this area and to benchmark
The Group takes secunty seriously and | the secunty framework  The Company has
considers 1t a high prionty to protect the | developed a Cyber Secunty Improvement
systems used to hold and process data Programme designed to improve the IT and
physical securty controls and established a
Loss or misuse of data could result in breaches | Thames Water Secunty Board chaired by the
of legislatont, including, but not hrmited to, data | Chief Executive

protection leqisiation or the payment card
industry data secunty standards (PCI-DSS)
standards, which could have an adverse impact
on operational assets, and/or lead to significant
fines and damage to the reputation of the
Group
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Risk description

Risk impact

What we are doing 1o manage the rnisk

Inability to economucally and
efficiently deliver services and
capital projects through aliance
partnerships

TWUL has a capital investment programme of
£4 5 billion to deliver between 2015 and 2020
Failure to deliver the capital programme to time,
cost and quahty measures could result in us
faling to achieve operating performance
efficiency and cost benefits as well as
increased delivery cosls or a falure to meet
obhigations

TWUL has established alhance partnerships with
market leading orgamisations to provide a
collaborative approach to proactively manage
delivery, mitigate nsk and achieve business
benefit across services

The business s focused on delivenng a range of
projects that should reduce tolex on a sustainable
basis

Inabihty to prowide water or treat
waste due to fallure of key assets
and/or processes

The prowision of safe and rehiable water and
wastewater services are essential to mantan
public health and protect the environment

A fallure at one of TWUL's major assets could
significantly impact the safety of the workforce
and the public, as well as interrupting supply to
customers and breaching environmental and
regulatory targets

Within the PR14 Final Determination the waste
infrastructure  below ground assets were
classified as detenorating

Ofwat could make financial adjustments at
PR19 if corrective actions do not restore service
to the required reference levels for each of ther
serviceability measures

The business plan for 2015-2020 inciudes an
investment programme amed at
mamntaiming/improving  the resithence of the
network and operational sites in order to reduce
the risk of failure and incidents

The environments In which the
Company operates, and the work it
undertakes, exposes the
workforce, business partners and
the commumty to hazards that
could harm their health, safety and
welibeing

The health, safety and wellbeing of employees,
partners, and the pubhc are the pnonty The
Group has a zero tolerance approach zero
harm, zero incidents and zero compromise

Failure to comply with company policies and
procedures could result in senous injury or loss
of life which would have tragic imphcations for
individuals and their families and communities

This could also result in prosecution under the
Health & Safety at Work Act and/er the
Corporate Manslaughter Act

The Group has developed a strong safety culture,
with a clearly defined strategy, safety protocols
and standards that are set, monitored and
reporied to the Board and the Executive

The Group works closely with partners and
supplers to ensure 1t operales In a safe
environment and continues to introduce imtiatives
based on emerging risk areas to reinforce the
Group’s ambition of zero harm, zero incidents and
Zero CoOmpromise

Some of the imihatives TWUL has mtroduced in
201516 include

+ mplementaton of the AMP6 health and
safety engagement strategy across the
supply chain,

« the ntroduction of the Institute of
Occupational Heath managing safety course
for all supervisors,

« a revised drug and alcohol policy, mebile
phone use policy, personal proteclive
equipment standards mplemented across
Thames Water and contractors, and

+ the introduction of ammated incident learning
to provide a visual understanding of incidents
and what's being done differently
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Risk description

Risk impact

What we are doing to manage the risk

{nability to finance the Group and
maintain target credit ratings

The Group 1s required to comply
with varnous financial ratios

TWUL has a debt funding requirement of ¢
£3 5 bilion in AMP6 {2015 - 2020)

Changes in nterest rates, or the lack of
avallable credit, or a fall in credit ratings could
put at nsk the Group's ability to efficiently
finance the investment programme, or finance
debt maturities when they become due

An Increase In the cost of funding may put
pressure on key financial covenants and
potentially lead to restncted dividend payments

Poor operationalfinancial performance could
lead to a downgrade in ratings

The Group’s capital structure and ability to source
debt funding I1s underpinned by a focus on the
mantenance of strong investment grade credit
ratings The funding strategy 15 resiient and
approved by the Board annually

This Group 1s funded predominantly by debt in the
form of long-term bonds and loans, predominantly
in fixed or inflation-linked form, diversified by
source and matunty

Focus 1s on maintatning stable credit ratings and
a strong hquidity and cash position

Inflation rates

Water compames earn a return on therr
Regulatory Capttal Value (“RCV"), which 1s
adjusted by the Retail Price Index (“RPI") In
times of low inflation or deflation, the return on
this investment will decrease relative to the cost
of funding, reducing cash flow and shareholder
value

Faling inflation or deflation could lead to
pressure on covenants due to reduced
headroom between RCV and the financing
structures n place especially for mstruments
which are not inked to RPI

In order to reduce the impact of low inflation or
deflation, around halt of TWUL’s debt 1s linked to
RPI

TWUL maintains headroom versus key financial
covenants In order to manage such nsk The
Company forecasts covenant headroom to the
end of the reguiatory penod on a monthly basis

Increased cost  of

commitments

pension

Changing demographics and fluctuations In
investment markets affect funding requirements
for pension commitments The net deficit on the
defined benefit schemes as at 31 March 2016
was £2539 mitlon — the 2016 valuation Is
underway

In recent years TWUL has reduced benefits
avallable and kept the affordability of pension
schemes under review It has agreed a pensions
strategy aimed at fully reducing the pensions
deficit by 2025 and containing future pension
costs The strategy and associated mitigating
action plans will be monitored on an ongoing
basis and investment performance wall be kept
under review to ensure the schemes are
managed effectively and remain sustainable

Increasing levels of bad debt which
cannot be recovered The law
prohibits  the disconnection of a
water supply from certain premises
including domestic dwellings as a
method of enforcing payment

Rising customer debt levels continue to be an
1issue for TWUL TWUL's area covers London
and the Thames Valley where the proportion of
people in rented accommodation i1s higher than
other parts of the UK This, the Company
beleves, Increases revenue loss due to non-
payment of debt, as people move property
more frequently leaving debt behind, which
places an additional burden on those who do

pay

The bad dett as a percentage of regulated
revenue for 2015/16.1s 3 2% (2014/15 3 6%)

Failure to adequately manage cash collection
processes has a delrimental impact on TWUL's
results

TWUL s transforming its credit management
arrangements TWUL has

+ nvested in a new debt management system,

e mproved the qualty of data and estabhshed
new data sources,

* nvested in staff traiming This has led to
better identification of, and support for, those
customers who want to pay the bills but find
they are unable to do so, and

« put In place a new strategy for collection
through debt collecton agencies and
increased liigation where necessary

TWUL 1s implementing a new customer
relationship management and billing system

10
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Financial performance

We have seen a sold start to this AMP# regulatory penod and are 1n a strong financial position to support the delivery of our performance
commitments for our customers

Our three major allances, which have been set up as part of our cross company transformation programme, provide a platform for us to
streamline our business and dnive cost savings For every £1 less than the totex allowance set by Ofwat in our Final Determination (“FD”)
that we spend because of efficiency, 50 pence 1$ returned back 10 the customer Our totex spend for 2015/16 was £31 million below the FD
level, and we are on track to deliver efficiencies which will beneht customers 1n the form of lower bills in future years

We have invested more than £1 billion, for the 11th year in a row, into our busmess, to enhance our resilience and deliver major capital
projects These include the Deephams sewage treatment works upgrade, the Lee Tunnel and development works for the Thames Tideway
Tunne! before Bazalgette Tunnel Limited {*BTL") took over responsibility for delivery As 2015/16 was a year of significant change for
TWUL, and given uncertainly relating to the Thames Tideway Tunnel (now resolved by appointment of BTL to deliver) the KWH Board
agreed that no external dwvidends would be paid in respect of 2015/16

To support our capital investment programme, we have maintained a robust balance sheet, a prudent leve! of geanng and stable ¢redit
ratings This allows us to raise capital more cost effectively and provides us with greater ability to access the debt markets

In the interest of being transparent about our finances we have published, in October 2015, an update to ‘Our Finances Explained’ on our
website

Financial key financial indicators (KPis)

2016 2015

£m £m

Group revenue 2,046 8 20022
Group operating expenses 1,456 1 1,433 2
Net finance expenses 3515 3665
Profit before tax 3846 390
Caprtal expenditure excluding intangibles 1,198.8 1369 2
Net debt 11,1715 10,639 5
Diidends payable - 631

Group revenue

Group revenue for the year has increased by 2 2% to £2,048 8 milion This 1s as a result of inflation, a marginal increase 1N domestic
consumption from population growth and the re-profiing of revenue from later years of AMPE into the year ended 31 March 2016 to avord
volatility in bills

Revenue Is shown after a deduction of £37 7 mithon, which 1s 1 8% of revenue (2015 £36 6m, 1 8%) relating to amounts billed tn the year
and now considered to be irrecoverable from our customers

Group operating expenses

Group operating expenses have increased by 1 6% from the previous year, which I1s al a lower rale than the growth in revenue This
demonstrates the positive effect of our cost control measures, which have led to operational efficiencies

After adjusung for the one-off £10 O million pension curtailment gain reflected in the prior year results, employment costs have increased by
£2 8 million to £242 7 million This 1s pnmanly as a result of the increase in front hine staff to improve customer service, with our average
staff numbers nsing by 5 1% from the previous year

A reduction of £10 5 million in bad debt costs recognised within operating expenses has pnmarily resulted from improved household cash
collection rates as we implement a new debt management system and transform our cash collection processes

Maintenance and running costs for our waste and water businesses have nsen by £18 million as we strive to take a more proactive
approach to network maintenance, reduce response imes when i1ssues anse and Improve customer service

Group net finance expense
The business 1s funded, partly through external borrowing in the form of public and pnvate bonds issued in the debt capital markets and

bank loans from relationship banks We are required to pay mnterest on any amounts that we barrow The Group's net interest payable,
excluding the effect of capitalised interest costs of £114 4 million {2015 £86 4m) has increased by £13 0 million (2 9%) from the previous

11
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year as a result of new borrowmgs undertaken in the year Qur strong credit rating means that we continue to obtain financing at favourable
Interest rates

The Group has approximately £977 9 million of denvative financial instruments (face value}, which include £219 4 million of torward starting
interest rate swaps that have fixed a significant element of the cost of debt that we expect 1o borrow between 2016 and 2020 Durning the
year a fair value gain of £22 7 million was recorded, compared to a fair value loss of £246 9 million in the previous year, driven by lower
forecast RPI (Inflation) rates

Profit before tax

A summary of the moverment in profit before tax has been provided below

2016
£m
Profit before tax for the year ended 31 March 2015 390
Increase in revenue 446
Increase in operating expenditure {22 9)
Increase in profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 321
Increase in other operating income 72
Decrease in net interest payable 150
Movement in fair value gain on financial instruments 2696
Profit before tax for the year ended 31 March 2016 384 6)

Capital expenditure

We continue to invest heavily in improving and maintaining our network and infrastructure to ensure that our customers always have a safe
and reliable service Capital expenditure for the year totalled £1,198 8 mullion (2015 £1,369 2m), which included progress on Key projects
as follows

2016

£m

Thames Tideway Tunnel — development and interface works 128 4
Lee Tunne! ~ commissioned in 2016 809
Deephams Sewage Treatment Works upgrade 68 6
QOur new Customer relationship management and billing (“CRMB”) system 224
Counters Creek —~ West London sewer flooding alleviation scheme 157

Spend on the Thames Tideway Tunnel represents development costs, including acquinng tand and engineening costs, incurred prior to the
appointment of Bazalgelte Tunnel Limited tn August 2015 Subsequent to this, our costs will be imited to the cost of work reguired to
connect our network to the tunne! and land acquisition costs Capital expenditure relating to the Thames Tideway Tunnel has reduced by
£201 3 milhon compared to the previous year

Net debt and cash flow

Net debt, the total of external borrowings less cash at bank and in hand, has increased by £532 0 millon This is largely due to increased
borrowings required o fund our extensive capital investment programme The cash balance has remained stable year-on-year and the
decrease In cash generated by operating activities has been largely offset by a reduction in capital expenditure

Dividends

The Company has £1,991 6 million of share capital and in addition to this the shareholders own, 1n direct proportion to their shareholdings,
£310 4 million of bonds 1ssued by the Company's immediate subsidiary, Kemble Water Eurobond Plc The Group considers these bonds as
part of the shareholder's investment in the Group and the interest on these bonds takes pnonty over the payment of a dwdend by the
Company

TWUL has paid dwvidends in the year of £82 4 million (2015 £169 9m) which has been used by companies wathin the Group to either fund
working capital requirements or for the payment of interest on external borrowings The Group has paid dividends totalling £1 5 million
(2015 £61 6m) In the year, all of which were declared in the previous year The Board of Directors have not declared any intenm dividends
in the year and do not recommend the payment of a final dwvidend Conseqguently the shareholders of the Group have not received any
distnbutions for amounts relating to the current year (2015 £100 Om, compnsing dividend payments made by Kemble Water Holdings
Limited of £63 1m and interest payments made by Kemble Water Eurobond plc of £36 9m)
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Pension

The Group I1s the sponsonng employer to three matenal pension schemes, for which the tnennial actuanal valuations (dated 31 March
2012) have been updated for this year end on behalf of the Group by independent and professionally qualified consuling actuanes
PrncewaterhouseCoopers LLP This valuation shows that the net pension hability, representing the net surplus and deficits of all schemes to
which the Group 1s a sponsonng employer, decreased to £253 9 mifion (2015 £348 2 milion) in the year ended 31 March 2016 This
reduction has been primanly caused by the use of a higher discount rate In the actuanal calculation, dnven by higher yields on AA-rated
corporate bonds, which is consistent with other companies that operate a defined benefit scheme

There 1s a recovery plan in place, as agreed between the Directors of the individual sponsonng companies within the Group and Scheme
Trustess, o restore each scheme to a fully funded posiion The March 2013 actuanal valuation has committed the Group to making
additional contnbutions to the two schemes operated by TWUL on an annual basis These addimonal amounts, calculated by a qualfied
and independent actuary working on behalf of the Scheme Trustees, are intended to restore the funding level of the two schemes by 2020
and 2025 respectively Recovery payments under this plan have averaged £20 milion per year across the two schemes

The updated triennial valuation, dated 31 March 2016, 1s expected to be finalised by the scheme actuary in June 2017 This valuation will
include an updated funding recovery plan which will be agreed between the Scheme Trustees and the TWUL Company Directors The
Group intends to work closely with the Scheme Trustees throughout this process and remain commutted to maintaining a strong and wable
pension scheme for active members

Taxation

This year, the Group has paid around £160 million in taxes, including central and local government business rates, PAYE and national
Insurance

Cur capital investment of over £1 billion per year has resulted in capital allowances, which delay our corporation tax payments Similar to
previous years, this means we have not paid any corporation tax during the year The capital allowances regime means that our customer
bills are £12 lower than they would otherwise be and remain the third lowest combined bill in the UK The capital allowance scheme has
henefits for the wider economy by promoling investment in infrastructure

The UK corporation tax rate ts due to fall from 20% to 18% from 1 April 2020, which has had the effect of reducing the Company's deferred
tax labilities in the iIncome statement by £118 7 million This represents a reduchion in the leve! of corporation tax payable in future years
and therefore does not constitute a refund from HMRC Ulimately this will benefit our customers in the form of lower bills in future years

Relationship with Bazalgette Tunnel Limited (“"BTL")

From 2016/17, TWUL wil begin o collect revenue on behalf of BTL As the cash Is collected, we will pass it over to BTL This non-
appointed revenue will be excluded from our key performance indicators, which 1s consistent with our banking covenants

The cash collected and paid over 1o BTL dunng the penod of construction will represent a prepayment for the use of the tunnel once the
project 1s complete As a result of this unique arrangement and the resultant accounting treatment, Group's revenue will increase and
during the construction of the Tunnel there will be no associated costs reflected in the Group’s income statement This will increase the
Group's profits during the construction phase (2016-2022) but such profits will not be supported by cash

The Directors will ensure that the underlying results of the Group reported are not distorted by the accounting arrangements
Adoption of new accounting standards

These financial stalements are our first full-year set of financial stalements prepared n accordance with European Union (“EU")
International Financial Reporiing Standards (*IFRS") Details of how the transition to IFRS has alfected our financial statements, which
were previously reported under UK GAAP (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), are shown in notes 31 and 37 to the financial
stalements
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Financing and financial risk management

The Group’s operations expose It to a vanety of financial risks Treasury activities are managed internally by the Group's treasury tunction
with financial nsks managed within a framework agreed annually by the Board

Debt financing

A summary of the Group’s net debt by the different types of debt 1s as follows

2016 2015

£m £m

Secuntised Class A debt 8,8367 8,546 8
Securiised Class B debt 1,086 8 946 6
Subordinated debt 8181 7365
Net debt {covenant basis) 10,741 4 10,2299
Shareholder loans 3104 3104
Other 1197 992
Kemble Water Holdings Group net debt 11,4715 10,639 5

Other net debt tems include the following

+  cash held in companies that are excluded from covenant calculations,
» amortised debt fees that are excluded from the covenant calculation definitions, and
s far value adjustments made to the Thames Water Group's borrowings on acquisition by the Kemble Water consortium

TWUL, as the pnncipal trading subsicdiary of the Group, I1s the entity that generates substantially all of the cash needed by the Group to
service borrowings made aganst the Regulatory Capital Value (“RCV”) For the debt held outside the secuntised group, TWUL's dividends
are passed up the Group structure to provide funding for debt held at the Group level

Within the secuntised group, TWUL is an obhgor, underwriting all the secuntised debt which at 31 March 2016 was £10 7 billion (2015
£102 bilion) In addition to the debt TWUL holds directly, TWUL also, through the on-lending arrangements for borrowings in its
subsidianes, services the debt held in those companies

Subordinated debt i1s 1ssued outside of the secuntised group The Group has adequate cash and avalable facilities outside of TWUL to
enable it to service the debt for at least twelve months from the date of these financial statements

Credit rating

The principal trading company of the Group, TWUL, maintains investment grade credit ratings as assigned by the rating agencies Moody's
and Standard & Poor's (“S&P"} The ongoing assessment of these two rating agencies provides an external valuation of performance and
prospects

In February 2016, Moody's affirmed the Baa1 rating of TWUL and mantained the outlook for s credit raling as stable, citing the low
business risk profile of Thames Water and the relatively stable and predictable cash flows generated under a well-established and
transparent regulatory framework as drivers behind the rating Whilst TWUL 1s protected from the main construction nsk of the Thames
Tideway Tunnel — a credit positive, Moody's continues to recognise that TWUL 1s exposed to reputatonal and financial challenges
associaled with the Thames Tideway Tunnel project

In their most recent credit opinion in September 2015, S&P assigned ratings of A- (Class A) and BBB (Class B) and maintained a negative
outlook S&P has recognised a number of positive developments since 2014, particularly in relation to miigating the nsk assocrated with
the Thames Tideway Tunnel project, but have concerns over infrastructure serviceability, customer service and the level of bad debt
expense These are areas on which we continue to focus, and whilst we have seen improvements duning the year, we are committed to
delwering further improvements over the course of AMP6

Moody's rating for the KWF company debt remains at B1 (Stable) and Fitch at BB- (Stable)

Covenant complhance

The money we collect from customer bills does not quite cover the amount we spend on mantaining and improving our network each year
We supplement this with external finance (debt) from banks, pension funds insurance companies and other entities — all of which are

independent of our shareholders Qur gearng ratio, which 1s the consolidated net debt to Regulatory Capital Value (“RCV™) ratio, has
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increased at Kemble Water Finance Limited {the company in the Group where all external Group debt 1s consohdated) from 86 3% to
87 6% as a result of increased borrowing duning the year to fund our investment programme

Kemble Water Finance Limited has entered into guaranteed consolidated debt obligations with its creditors, it 1s required to maintain certain
ratios withtn certain financial lmits Duning the year ended 31 March 2016, our gearing of 87 6% was well below our mandated maximum of
82 5% Our inlerest cover (the ratio of our profits to inlerest payable) at 1 6x was well above the minimum level mandated of 1 05x

Funding and treasury policy

The funding policy 1s to maintain a broad portfolio of debt {diversified by source and maturity in order fo protect the Group against risks
ansing from adverse movements n interest rates) and to mamtain sufficient hquidity to fund the operations of the business for a minimum
of a 15-month forward pencd on an on-going basis  Dervative financial instruments are used to an extent to manage interest rate nsk,
inflation nsk and foreign exchange nsk All funding and treasury transactions are undertaken and managed by the central treasury function

Financial dervatives used include cross currency swaps and interest rate swaps that are used solely to manage risks associated with our
normal business achivities The treasury function 1s managed as a cost centre, not a profit centre No matenal open or speculative positions
are taken and the operaton of the treasury function 15 governed by specific company policies and procedures that set oul specific
guidelines for the management of iquidity, credit and market nsks associated with the financing actwities of the Group

Treasury policy and procedures are incorporated within the financial control procedures of the Group The key objectives of the funding
strategy are to retan our invesiment grade credit rating, provide liguidity for our angoing obligations and keep customner bills low The
Board reviews the Group’s exposure to these rnisks and actively oversees the treasury activities, reviewing treasury pohcy and approving
the treasury strategy and funding plan on an annual basis

Market risk

Market risk is the nsk that changes in market vaniables, such as inflation, foreign currency rates and interest rates, will affect the Group's
income or the value of its holdings in financia!l instruments

Debt 1ssued by the Group includes RPI linked loans and these instruments are exposed to movements in the APl index The principal
operating company of the Group, TWUL, 1s an appointed water and wastewater company with RP| linked revenues Therefore the Group’s
index linked borrowings form a partial economuc hedge as the assets and habilities partially offset each other The Group also uses
denvatives to manage nflaticn nsk on non-index linked borrowings

The Group's foreign currency nsk exposure results from debt raised in currencies other than Sterling The Group uses currency swaps to
hedge the foreign currency expasure of bonds issued in a foreign currency All hedges are undertaken for commercial reasons with the
objective of minimising the impact of exchange rate fluctuations on net assets and profits The Group has no matenal unhedged monetary
assets and habilities denominated in a currency different from the local currency of the Group

Interest rate nsk anses on interest-beanng financial Instruments  Floating rate borrowings are exposed to a nsk of change in interest cash
flows due to changes in interest rates The Group uses interest rate swaps which economically hedge future cash flows, protecting against
interest rate movements

In mid-2014 the principal operating company of the Group, TWUL, executed £2 25 billion of forward-staring pay fixed/receive floating
interest rate swaps of a five to seven year matunty with vanous financial institutions to fix the future interest costs of an element of the
anticipated new debt issuance in AMP6 This protects the Company against adverse movements in underlying interest rates by matching
projected future debt 1ssuance against a denvative instrument with a fixed cash flow Denvatives are revalued to fair value at the end of
each reporting perod

Credit nisk

Credit risk I1s the nsk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and anses pnncipally from the Group's trade receivables, shoriterm investments and cash flows recevable from
counterparties to the denvative financial instruments

Under the terms of the whole business secuntisation agreement, counterparties to the Company's short term investments and derivative
transactions have to meet mmmum credit rating ¢ntena as assigned by both Moody's and S&P  In respect of the denvative counterparties
there is also a mechamism for the counterparty to post collateral when amounts due to the Company under outstanding denivative contracts
exceed a contractually agreed threshold arnount or the counterparty fails to meet the necessary credit rating cnitena

TWUL has a statutory obligation to provide water and sewerage services to customers within its region Oue to the large area served by the
Company and the significant number of household and business customers within this area, there 1s considered to be no concentration of
trade receivables credit risk, however, TWUL's credit control policies and procedures are in place fo mimmise the nsk of bad debt ansing
from its trade receivables
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Liguidity nisk

Liquidity risk 1s the nsk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due The Group manages long-term
liquidity by maintaining continuity of funding through access to different market and debt instruments, raising funds in the capital markets
and ensuning that diverse debt matunity profiles are maintaned The Group also maintains a level of committed quidity faciliies provided
by a range of financial institutions

Actuanal Risk Management
The defined benefit schemes are exposed to actuanal risks including investment nsk, inflation nsk and longevity nsk

The trustees of the pension schemes have laken a number of steps to control the level of investment nsk within the schemes over the last
year, including reducing the schemes' exposures to higher nsk assets and increasing the level of protechon against adverse movements in
interest rates and inflation The trustees of these schemes continue to review the nsk exposures in hght of the longer term objectives of the
respective schemes

Viahihty statement

The Directors have assessed the wviability of the Group over a three year penod to 31 March 2019 In making this assessment, the Directors
have considered the current position of the Group, its ability to effectively and effictently manage its finances, the current regulatory regime,
its continued access to the debt markets, and ability to maintain a strong investment grade c¢redit raling, whilst having regard to the
princtpal risks and uncertainties as descnbed on pages 7 to 10

As part of the Group's recurnng price review process, five year Company Business Plans (“CBPs") are developed, the latest of which
covers the five year period ending 31 March 2020 As part of the Group's financial resilience assessment, management has designed a
number of ‘stress tests’ which subject the Group’s existing model, that underhies the Group's planning processes, to a number of different
scenanos and tests Its sensitivity to these The stress tests consider factors where the likelihood of them occurring, either indvidually or in
combination, 1s less than remote These include

. Fluctuations in interest rates

¢  Fluctuations in inflation rates

¢ Increase in operating expenditure

+ Inabilty to secure new finance andfor delays 1n raising finance
+ Unforeseen maintenance and capital expenditure

Management have prepared a detailed methodology statement that sets out the approach taken to assessing the long-term wviability of the
Group, details the vanables tested and considered therr effect on the financial covenants of the Group Taking account of the range of
scenarios, the Directors beliove that the Group has sufficient mitigating actions avallable to it to address the particular circumstances and
events identified, should they arse

The Directors consider that a three year penod 1s reasonable given the nature of the industry in which the Group operates and to more
closely align with the regulatory planning process given the changes in the regulatory framework that are being proposed Taking mnto
account the Group’'s current position and its pnncipal nsks, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to
continue 1n cperation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the next three years
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Annual Performance Review - Summary

We worked closely with our customers to set 55 ambitious performance commitments for the 2015-2020 AMP6 ragulatory penod across
our business areas - water, waste and retall - and for the Thames Tideway Tunnel These commitments are designed to deliver what ts
important to our customers in the most cost effechive way

This report provides a summary of our performance against these targets, highlighting those that our customers have sad they value most
and those which we feel best reflect our performance in the year The summary dashboard below gives an overview of these metrics,
which 1s then assigned a red, amber or green rating to show how we have performed in the year against the relevant target

The ratings definitions can be summansed as follows
Green . Performance at or above our Commutted Performance Level (“CPL")

Amber O Performance within the range allowed, without a penalty {(the “deadband”) if defined, or within 5% of our CPL, or where
asset health 1s assessed as marginal

Red . Performance below the deadband (if defined) or more than 5% below our CPL, or where asset health 1s assessed as
detenorating
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) wage supply
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A detailed review of our performance against each of these metncs has been provided wathin our Annual Perfermance Report which has
been published on our website The commentary provided in the remamnder of this report represents an overview of the key messages
contained within the Annual Performance Report

Overview

Once again, it has been a busy year for Thames Water To mimimise the costs for our customers, we ran a comprehensive and competitive
process to identify the best company to deliver the Thames Tideway Tunnel This resulted 1n Bazalgette Tunnel Limited (“BTL") secunng a
licence In August 2015 to deliver the Thames Tideway Tunnel, a landmark construction project which will transform London and its rvers
The award-winning Thames Water team responsible for the project worked with many stakeholders to overcome significant hurdles and
deliver the best outcome for our customers and the environment

We launched our new smart meter pregramme te households in London This will enable our customers to track their water usage and pay
for what they use We have successfully reduced our pollution incidents by 49% in just one year reflecting our commitment to reducing our
environmental impact We also met our leakage target, close to our lowest ever, for the tenth consecutive year, meaning we have reduced
leakage by a third since 2004, and achieved our main drinking water quality target for the ninth year in a row

For some performance commitments, where we exceed the performance levels, we are able to earn Qutcome Delivery Incentive (*CDI")
financial rewards but we will also incur penalties for underperformance These reward and penalty mechanisms were set in consultation
with our customers with both rewards and penaltes affecting revenues in future AMPs In 2015/16 we outperformed our target for water
supply interruptions of over 4 hours, earning an ODI reward of £3 1 milien Due to three significant bursts, we didn’t meet our target for
customers withoul water for over 12 hours, and incurred a penalty of £4 7 million We also received a penalty of £11 7 million for sewer
flooding

Qur internal control procedures identified a problem with the way we had been recarding sewer flooding leading to a higher than expected
leve! of sewer flooding in 2015/16 We have put in place a plan to improve our performance and bring 1t back to the performance
commitment leve!

We have investigaled and confirmed the number of additional sewer flooding incidents in AMPS, over and above those cnginally reported,
and we are ensuring that all affecied customers have been compensated The impact for AMP5 1s an increase n the regulatory penalty of
£10 million, which reduces the level of revenue we can charge in future years We are working hard to exceed the targets our customers
have set us, to earn our rewards and avoid further penaltties in the future
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We made significant progress in improving our customer satistaction score received from customers mn 2015/16 It increased from 4 18 to
4 44 n our water business, from 4 36 to 4 50 in our wastewaler business and from 4 17 to 4 22 in the retall business As a consequence
our Service Incentive Mechanism (*SIM™) score, which 15 monitored by Ofwat, has increased from 726 to 76 7 out of 100 in 2015/16
Despite the improvement, there 1s still more to do as we remain behind many of our fellow walter companies, which have also kept moving
forward

Prowviding an exceptional product — clean and safe dnnking water — 1s fundamental to our business and our customers continue to benefit
trom some of the highest quality water, both within the UK and globally In 2015/16 we outperformed our key drinkung water target set by
the drinking water inspectorate (“DWI") To ensure we provide a consistently high quality product to our customers we perform more than
400,000 water quality tests on water samples each year, an average of more than 1,000 per day

We exceeded our target for customers without water for more than 12 hours and therefore our asset health 1s assessed as marginal A
major factor contributing to this was significant bursts in Enfield, Flaxlands (Swindon) and Slough To mimimise the impact of significant
bursts in the future we have taken steps to improve our network monitoring systems and response to emergencies

Our performance in reducing water supply interruptions of more than 4 hours was strong beating our target and earning an QDI reward of
£3 1 milion We achieved this by optirmising pressures throughout our water network to reduce bursts and replacing old mains, targeting
those that are most likely to leak or hurst to reduce future disruption and inconvenience to our customers We have replaced 1,700 miles of
pipes since 2004

We outperformed our leakage target for the tenth year in a row Despite some significant challenges, we actieved an average leakage
level for the year of 642 460 MI/d (commutted performance level of 649 MI/d)

Although we have achieved a year-on-year reduction n the level of energy we take from the gnd (energy imported less energy exporied}
for our water business, it was stll shghtly higher than our performance commitment target We achieved a net 12 GW/h reduction, but we
missed the target by 1% This was mamly due to treating and pumping more water to meet demand for popufation growth that was much
tugher than expected

We remain committed to reducing our energy consumption and meeting our commitments in future years Our plans include the continued
upgrade, replacement and optimisation of our pumps, prowviding and transporting water In less energy intensive ways and increasing our
on-site renewable energy generation In 2016 Europe’s largest floating solar pane! array was installed on our Queen Elizabeth |l reservorr
which enables us to part power our Hampton water treatment works using solar power

Greenhouse gas emissions from our water business were 284 8 kT CO2e (2015 266 2 KT CO2e) and from our wastewater business were
468 5 KT CO2e (2015 402 0 KT CO2e) As emissions from electncity make up B8% of our total greenhouse gas emissions, the best way
for us to reduce emissions In our water business 1s by reducing gnd electnicity consumption This performance cemmitment s directly
linked to our level of net energy imported, so Is affected by the same increased treatment and pumping of more water to meet demand We
therefore rmissed our emissions target in 2015/16 Alongside with actions to reduce our net energy imported, our recovery plan includes a
new renewable energy source for our largest sewage treatment works, which will replace energy imported from the gnd, and we remain
committed to achieving our ambitious target of self-generating 33% of our own renewable energy by 2020

We achieved a dramatic 48% reduction in the number of pollution incidents in the year ended 31 December 2015 compared to 2014 In
part this reflected drier weather in 2015/16, but increased investment and improvements to our monitoring and site operations were also
major factors We have also invested in traiming and the resources within our waste contro! centre and improved response times

99 13% of our sewage treatmenlt works achieved their discharge compliance target in 2015/16 This 1s our best performance for three years
We did not meel our performance commitment, but our performance was within the range allowed before an ODI penalty 1s due To
achieve our commitment during AMP6 we have improved online monitoning and reporting, made faster responses, enhanced training and
coaching of our operatives in the held and increased capital investment

Approved by the Board of Directors on 9 June 2016 and signed on its behalf by

E =

Sir Peter Mason KBE
Chairman
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements of Kemble Water Holdings Limited {the "Company”) and the
audited consolidated financial statements of its group (“the Group") for the year ended 31 March 2016 The Directors consider that the
annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable, and prowides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess both the Group's and Company's performance and strategy

The Directors have carned out a robust assessment of the principal nsks facing the Group, including those that would threaten dts business
model, future performance, solvency or liquicity, and details of these nsks and their management or miigation can be found in the Strategic
Report

The registered number of the Company 1s 05819262 (England and Wales)

Principal activity

The Group's principal activity 15 the appointed supply of water and wastewaler services te customers in London, the Thames Valley and
surrounding area, delivered through its wholly owned subsichary Thames Water Utilites Limited (“TWUL" or “Thames Waler'} in
accordance with TWUL's licence of appointment

Details of the associated and subsidiary undertakings of the Group at 31 March 2016 has been provided in the notes to these financial
statements

Future outlook

The future outlook of the Group 1s discussed in the Strategic Report

Directors

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 March 2016 and to the date of this repont were

Sir Peter Mason KBE - Chairman

E Beckley

R Blomheld-Srruth {Appointed 27/04/2015)
D Buffery {Resigned 07/07/2015)
J Divoky {Appointed 02/10/2015)
R Greenleaf

G Lambert

P Noble

A Osorio {Appointed 26/11/2015)
T Richon (Appointed 07/07/2015, Resigned 18/01/2016)
K Roseke (Resigned 27/04/2015)
G Tucker (Appointed 17/04/2015})
C Van Hejjningen {Appointed 18/01/2016)
Y Wang

L Webb (Resigned 02/10/2015)

Dunng the year under review, none of the Directors had significant contracts with the Company or any other body corporate other than their
contracts of service (2015 none) Directors are allowed 1o appoint an alternative Director to represent them if they are unable to attend a
meeting The following Directors have formally appointed alternate Directors to represent them when they are unavailable

Director Alternate Director

G Tucker C Deacon {Resigned 22/01/2016}
P Mulholland (Appointed 22/01/2016)

P Noble P Hofbauer

Y Wang F Sheng

J Divoky L Webb {Appointed 16/10/2015)

R Blomfield-Smith D Rees {Resigned 18/01/2016)

D Buffery R Bakker (Resigned 18/01/2016)}

L Webb C Pham (Resigned 02/10/2015})
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Directors’ indemnities

The Group has made qualifying third party indemniy provisions for the benehit of ts Directors and for the beneht of other persons who are
directors of associated companies of the Group and these remam in force at the date of this report

Dividends

The Company declared no dividends in the current financial year (2015 £63 1m of which £1 5m was pad in April 2015} and the Directors
do not recommend the payment of a final dnvidend (2015 Enil}

Operations outside the United Kingdom

There are no active operations conducted outside the United Kingdom The Group has two wholly owned subsidiary entities incorporated in
the Cayman {slands These companies act solely as a financing vehicle for Thames Walter Utilities Limited and their operations are
conducted entirely within the UK These companies are (and have always been) resident in the UK for tax purposes

Going concern

The Group's business actwities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position, the financial
position of the Group, its cash flows, lquidity position and borrowing faciities are set out in the Strategic Report

The Directors believe, after due and careful enguiry, and noting that the Group s 1n a net current habihities position as at the year end, that
both the Group and Company have sutficient resources for their present requirements and i1s able to meet their habilities as they tall due for
the foreseeable future For these purposes the foreseeable future i1s taken to mean a period of at least twelve months from the date of
approval of these financial statements This 1s based upon a review of the Group's financial forecasts for the forthcoming financial year,
consideration of the Group's compliance with 1ts covenants and the cash, current asset investments and availlable facilities

On this basis the Directors consider 1t appropnate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis

Financial nsk management

The Company has access to the Chief Executive and the Executive Team of Thames Water Utilties Limited, who also manage the wider
Kemble Water Holdings Group on a day-to-day basis on behalf of the Directors of individual group companies The Board receives regular
reports from all areas of the business This enables promp! identification of financial and other nsks so that appropriate actions can be
taken in the relevant group companies

The Company's operations expose It 1o a vanety of financial nsks and information on the use of financial instruments by the Group to
manage these nisks 1s disclosed in the Strategic Report

Adoption of international accounting standards

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS") as adopted by the
European Union (“EU"} These are the Company and Group's first full IFRS financial statements and IFRS 1 Fust-time Adophon of
International Financial Reporting Standards has been apphed The Company and Group’s previously reported resulls of the year ended 31
March 2015 have been restated, the effective date of transition to IFRS being 1 April 2014

An explanatien of how the transition to IFRS has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and the cash fiows of the
Company and Group 15 provided In the notes to the financial statements This note includes reconcihations of equity and total
comprehensive income for comparative penods and of equity at the dale of transiion from previous reported numbers prepared under
Uniled Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("UK GAAP") to IFRS

Political donations

No political donations were made by the Group or Company dunng the year (2015 £nii)

Employees

At Thames Water we aim for a workforce that is representative of the communities in which we operate Our policies and practices comply
with current legislation Alongside this, our values protect and support our people by creating an inclusive work environment, where people
are treated with respect and are supported throughout recrutment, induction, career development and progression Our current diversity

profile shows across out total workforce, 32 5% are female and 67 5% are male, which remains broadly consistent across our management
grades
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The Group 1s commutted to fulfilling its obligations in accordance with the Disability Discnmination Act 1995 The Group has pohcies and
procedures in place that aim to ensure both job apphcants and employees with disabilities have equalty of opportunity, are treated fairly
and have a safe and practical workplace, free from discnmination, bullying, harassment or vichmisation

Through disability and attendance management policies, support and training 1s provided for employees who become disabled during the
course of their employment so that they continue to work in a position appropnate to their expenence and abiities

The average number of employees within the Group 1s shown Iin the notes to the financial statements In support of our talent pipeling, in
this financial year, we took on 24 graduates, 12 apprentices and 43 tranees Providing opportunities for people to learn and grow 1s
fundamental to ensuning we have skilled people to benefit our customers and in the past year our colleagues completed over 20,000 hours
of training and development This includes 12,000 hours of health and safety traning

We seek lo promote a culture of honesty and integnty in everything we do and will not tolerate acts of fraud, dishonesty, bnibery, corruption
or theft of assets or data Our code of conduct, alongside our honest and ethical behaviour policies, expresses our approach to business
actvities and how we work providing a clear, ethical and legal framework for our employees, customers and stakeholders Our contractors
and alhance partners have agreed to follow the prowvisions of this code

Research and development

The Group's research and development programme consists of a portfalio of projects designed to address techmical needs across the
range of water cycle activiies Research and development activities deliver innovative technical solutions through a research programme
aligned with business needs to address challenges for AMP6 and also provide specialist technical support to the business Expenditure on
research and development totalled £3 1 million for the year (2015 £4 Om)

Disclosure of information to the auditor

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as Director to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor 1s aware of that
information

Auditor

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2008, the auditor wili be deemed to be reappointed and KPMG LLP will therefore continue
in ofiice

Approved by the Board of Directors on 9 June 2016 and signed on tts behalf by

e
Sir Peter Mason KBE

Chairman
Clearwater Court
Vastern Road
Reading
Berkshire
RG18DB
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the annual report and
financial statements

The Drrectors are responsible for preparing the annual report and financtal statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law they have elected to prepare the
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporling Standards (“IFRS"} as adopted by the European Urion (“EU") and
apphicable law

Under cornpany law, the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satsfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affars of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss for that penod

In prepanng these financial statements the Direclors are required to

select sultable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
make Judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and

prepare the inancial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They have general responsibility for ensunng such sleps as are reasonably open to them
to safeguard the assets of the company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregulanties
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Kemble Water Holdings

Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Kemble Water Holdings Limited for the year ended 31 March 2016 set out on pages 24 to 76
The financia! reporting framework that has been apphed in their preparation 1s applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU

This report 1s made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 Our
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitied by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the company and the company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opintons we have formed

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibiiies Statement set out on page 22, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our responsibility 15 to audit, and express an opinion on,
the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A descrnption of the scope of an audit of financial statements 1s provided on the Financial Reporting Council's website at
www frc org uk/auditscopeukprivate

Opmion on financial statements
In our opinion

» the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2016
and of the Group's profit for the year then ended,

s the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

» the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and as applied
In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 20086, and

s have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financiat
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements Based solely on the work required to be undertaken in the course of
the audit of the financial statements and from reading the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report

» we have not identified matenal misstatements in those reports, and,
* Inour opinion, those reporis have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, 1n our opinion

* adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited
by us, or
the financtal statements are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
we have not received all the ipformation and explanations we require for our audit

\QT))\A@

Robert Brent (Senior Statutory Aucditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

15 Canada Square

London

E14 5GL

9 June 2016
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 March

2016 2015

Note £m £m

Revenue 1 2,046.8 2,0022
Operating expenses 2 {1,456.1) (1,433 2)
Profit on the sale of property, plant and equipment 48 5 164
Other operating income 4 74 2 670
Operating profit 7134 652 4
Finance income 5 107.5 1194
Finance expense 6 {459 0) (485 9)
Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments 7 22.7 (246 9)
Share of results of associates 11 - -
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 3846 390
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 8 859 1053
Profit for the year 4705 144 3

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March

2016 2015
£m £m

Profit for the year 4705 144 3
Other comprehensive income
ltems that will not be reclassified to the income statement
Net actuanal gains/{losses) on defined benehit pension schemes 23 1132 (127 1)
Deferred tax on net actuanal (gains)/losses 19 (30 8) 254
items that may be reclassified fo the mncome statement
Losses on cash flow hedges - (65 0) (154 4)
Deterred tax on losses on cash flow hedges 19 87 308
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 261 {225 3)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 496 6 (810)

All of the Group's activities above are derived from continuing activities
The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 to 76 are an integral part of these financial statements

As permitted by Section 408 of the Compantes Act 2006, no income statement 1s presented for the parent Company For the year ended
31 March 2016 the Company generated a prohit after taxation of £268 2 million (2015 profit of £244 7m)

24




Kemble Water Holdings Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2016
Financial statements

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 March

As at 1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
Note £m £m £m
Non-current asseis
Intangible assets 9 66 4 577 654
Goodwll 12 1,468 1 1,468 1 1,468 1
Property, plant and equipment 10 14,0251 13,307 3 12,4158
Trade and other receivables 14 38 - -
Retirement benefit surplus 23 61 57 55
Denvative financial assets 18 366 6 2716 888
15,936 1 15,110 4 14,043 6
Current asseis
Inventones and current intangible assets 13 22.0 99 61
Assets held for sale 1.0 02 03
Trade and other receivables 14 5702 526 8 527 0
Short term investments 18 289.5 2771 4890
Cash and cash equivalents 15 567 3 5717 443 3
1,450 0 1,3857 1,465 7
Current habihities
Trade and other payables 16 {814 5) {893 5) {751 1)
Borrowings 17 (1,037 4) {951 9) (573 0)
Derwvative financial liabilties 18 (42 4) {85 7) -
(1,894 3) (1,931 1) (1,324 1)
Net current (iabihties)/assets (444 3) (545 4) 1416
Non-current hiabilities
Trade and other payables 16 (382 2) {335 2) (311 9)
Borrowings 17 {11,005 4) (10,414 6) (10,355 0)
Denvative financial liabilities 18 {1,302 1) (1,337 4) (845 0)
Deferred tax 19 (963 6) (1,021 3} {1,180 2)
Prowvisions for liabilities and charges 20 (100 0) (100 7) (99 9)
Retirement benefit obligations 23 {260 Q) {353 9) (247 2)
(13,993 3) (13,563 1) (13,039 2)
Net assets 1,498 5 1,001 9 1,146 0
Equity
Called-up share capital 21 1,991 6 1,991 6 1,991 6
Cash flow hedge reserve (179 9) (123 6) -
Retained earnings (313 2) (866 1) (845 B)
Total equity 1,498 5 1,001 9 1,146 Q

The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 to 76 are an integral part of these financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 June 2016 and signed on its behalf by

/%Mb:
Sir Peter Mason KBE
Chairman

Company registered number 05819262 (England and Wales}
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R —
Company statement of financial position
As at 31 March
As at1 April
2016 2015 2014
Note £m £m £m
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidianes 32 10 10 10
Current assets
Intercompany loans receivable 33 36785 3,343 3 3,096 7
Cash and cash equivalents - i5 -
Current hiabilities
Trade and other payables 34 (1327) (67 2) 07
Net current assets 3,545 8 3,2776 3,096 0
Net assets 3,546 8 3,278 6 3,097 0
Equuty
Called-up share capital 21 1,991 6 19916 1,991 6
Retained earmings 1,555 2 12870 1,105 4
Total equity 3,546 8 32786 3,097 0

The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 1o 76 are an integral part of these financial statements

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 June 2016 and signed on its behalf by

e

Sir Peter Mason KBE
Chairman

Company registered number 05819262 (England and Wales)
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March

Share Cash flow Retained Total
capital hedge reserve earnings equity
£m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnil 2014 19916 - {845 6) 1,146 0
Profit for the year - . 144 3 144 3
Loss on cash flow hedges - (154 4) - (154 4)
Deferred tax on cash flow hedge - 308 - 308
Dividends payable - - (63 1) (63 1)
Actuaral loss on pension schemes - - (127 1) {127 1)
Deferred tax on actuarial loss - - 254 254
At 31 March 2015 1,991 6 (123 6) (866 1) 1,001 9
Profit for the year - - 4705 470 5
Loss on cash flow hedges - (65 0) - (65.0)
Deferred tax on cash flow hedge - 87 - 87
Actuarial gain on pension schemes - - 1132 113.2
Deferred tax on actuanal gan - - (308) {30 8)
At 31 March 2016 1,891 6 {179 9) (313 2) 1,498 5
L M N ]
Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 March
Share Retained Total
capital earnngs equity
£m £m £m
At 1 Apni 2014 1,991 6 1,105 4 3,097 0
Profit for the year - 2447 244.7
Dividends payable - (63 1) (63 1)
At 31 March 2015 19916 1,287 0 3,278 6
Profit for the year - 268 2 268 2
At 31 March 2016 1,891 6 1,555 2 3,546 8

The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 to 76 are an integral part of these financial statements
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2016 2015
Note £m £m
Cash generated from operations 29 1,169 6 1,205 5
Tax (paidy/received {2 3} 09
Net cash generated by operating activities 1,167 3 1,206 4
Investing activities
Interest receved 1085 1238
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,262 4) {1,307 4)
Purchase of intangible assets (27 3) (14 8)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 147 172
Net cash used in investing activities {1,165 5) (1,181 2)
Financing activities
{Increase)/decrease in current asset investments (12 4) 2119
New loans raised 1,082 9 593 5
Repayment of borrowtngs {550 6) {192 6)
interest paid {367 9) (429 9)
Dernvative settlements (149 3) (18 1)
Denivative collateral hability (7 4) -
Dividends paid {15) {61 6)
Net cash {used in)}/generated by financing activities (6 2) 1032
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 44) 128 4
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 5717 443 3
Net cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 567 3 5717

The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 to 76 are an ntegral part of these financial statements
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Company statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 March
2016 2015

Note £m £m
Cash generated from operations 36 - -
Tax pad - -
Net cash (used in)/generated by operating activities - -
investing activities*
Interest received - 631
Net cash generated by investing activities - 631
Financing activities
Dividends paid {15) (61 6)
Net cash used in financing activities (15) (61 6)
Net (decrease)fincrease in cash and cash equivalents (15) 15
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 15 -
Net cash and cash equivalents at end of the year - 15

The accounting policies and notes on pages 30 to 76 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements They have been applied consistently
in dealing with items which are considered matenal, excepl as noted below

General information

Kemble Water Holdings Limited (“the Company™) 1s a company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom under the Companies
Act 2006 whose principal activity 1s to act as the holding company for the Kemble Water Holdings Limited group of comparies {“the
Group™ The Group's principal activity Is the appointed supply of water and wastewater services to customers in London, the Thames
Valley and surrounding area, delivered through its wholly owned subsidiary Thames Water Utilities Limted (“TWUL” or “Thames Water") in
accordance with TWUL's licence of appointment

The address of the registered office of both the Company and the Group 1s Clearwater Court, Vastern Road, Reading, RG1 8DB

Statement of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as adopted by the
European Union (“*EU") These are the Group and Company's first full IFRS financial statements and IFRS 1 Fwst-ime Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied The Group and Company's previously reported results for the year ended 31
March 2015 have been restated, the effective date of transiion to IFRS being 1 April 2014

An explanation of how the transition to IFRS has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and the cash flows of the
Group and Company I1s provided In notes 31 and 37 respectively This note includes reconcilations of equity and total comprehensive
income for comparative periods and of equity at the date of transition from previous reported numbers prepared under Uriled Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (“UK GAAP”) to IFRS

The group and parent company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, International Accounting Standards
{“1AS") and IFRIC interpretations 1ssued and effective and ratified by the European Union as at 31 March 2016

Basis of preparation

The financial statements for the Group and parent company for the year ended 31 March 2016, set out on pages 24 lo 76, have been
prepared on the going concern basis and under the hustorical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets and
habihties at far value

Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and entties controlled by the Company (its
subsidianes) and incorporate the results of its share of joint ventures using equity accounting Associates are accounted for on an equity
basis either where the Group's holding exceeds 20% or the Group has the power to exercise significant influence

Where necessary, adjustments have been made to the financial statements of subsidianes to align the accounting policies used under the
relevant local GAAP into line with those used by the Group Control 1s achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies, generally accompanied by a shareholding of more than one half of the voling nghts, of an inveslee entity so as to
oblain benefits from its activities All intra-group transachions, balances, ncome and expenses are eliminated on consolidation The results
of subsidiary undertakings acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit and loss account from the date of
acquisition or up to the date of disposal

Going concern

The Group's business actvities, together with the factors hkely to affect its future development, performance and position, the financial
position of the Group, its cash flows, iquidity position and borrowing faciities are set out in the Strategic Report

The Directors believe, after due and careful enquiry, and noting that the Group i1s 10 a net current liabilities position as at the year end, that
both the Group and Company have sutficient resources for therr present requirements and 1s able to meet their habiliies as they fall due for
the foreseeable future For these purposes the foreseeable future 15 taken to mean a penod of at least twelve months from the date of
approval of these financial statements This 1s based upon a review of the Group’s financial forecasts for the forthcoming financial year,
consideration of the Group's compliance with 1ts covenants and the cash, current asset investments and available facilties

On this basis the Directors consider it appropnate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis
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Goodwill

Goodwill anses on the acqusiticn of subsidianes and represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of any prevtous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assels acquired If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured at farr value 1s less than the fair value of the nel assets of the subsidiary acquired, in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference 1s recogmsed directly in the income statement

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 1s allocated to each of the cash generating units
{“CGU", or groups of CGUs, which is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination Each unit or group of urits to which the
goodwill Is allocated represents the lowest leve! within the enlity at which the goodwill 1s moritored for internal management purposes

Goodwill impairment reviews are underlaken annually or more frequently «f events or changes in circumstances indicale a potential
impairment The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which 1s the hugher of the value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal Any impairment i1s recognised iImmediately as an expense within the income statement and
15 not subsequently reversed Where goodwill forms part of a cash generating umit and all or part of that unit 1s disposed of, the assotated
goodwill I1s inciuded in the carrying amount of that operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation

Foreign currency

Transactions n foreign currencies are translated to sterling (the Group and Company's functional and presentational currency) at the
foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction On consolidation the results of overseas subsidiaries and associated
undertakings (none of which are domiciled 1n a country with a hyper-inflationary economy) are transtated into sterling using average rates
of exchange ruling dunng the financal year The net investment 1s translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the year end
and any exchange differences so arising are treated as movements in equity

Monetary assets and habilities denomtnated in foreign currencies at the financial reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency
at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the iIncome statement
except for differences ansing on the retransiation of qualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised directly in equity

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of histoncal cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction Non-monetary assets and lhiabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
reiranstated to the functional currency at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in the ordinary course of business, excluding value added tax
and trade discounts, for goods and services provided which are recognised in accordance with IAS18 Revenue Revenue Is recognised at
the time of delivery of the service Should the Group consider that the cnteria for full revenue recognition are not met at the time of a
transaction, recognition of the associated revenue would be deferred until such time as the cntena have subsequently been met Bad debt
on bills raised 1n the year, which are considered uncollectable based on historic experience, I1s recognised as a deduction to revenue

Revenue includes an estimate of the amount of mains water and wastewater charges unbilled at the penod end, which are recorded within
accrued income The usage 1s estimated using a defined methodology based upon historical data and managernal jJudgement When a new
property 1s connected to the infrastructure network an estimate 1s made of the sales value of water supplied and wastewater charges
incurred between the date of connection and the period end Where actual results differ from estimates used, revenue 1s adjusted in the
period for which the revision to the estimate 1s determined

For unmetered customers, the amount to be billed 1s dependent upon the rateable value of the property, as assessed by an independent
rating officer The amount billed is recorded within deferred income and 1s apportioned to revenue over the penod to which the bill relates
The Group only raises bills in the name of the “occupier” when it has evidence that an unmeasured property 1s occupied but cannot confirm
the name of the occupier When the Group identihes the occupants the bill 1s cancelled and re-billed n the customer's name If the
Company has not identified an occupant within six months the till 1s cancelled and the property 1s classified as empty

Interest income 1s accrued on a time basis by reference to the prnincipal oulstanding and the Effective Interest Rate (*EIR™) apphicable The
EIR 13 the rate that exactly discounts the estimated fulure cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter pernod, where appropniate, 1o the net carrying amount of the financial asset or habiity Interest income 15 presented within finance
income 1n the iIncome statement
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E") 1s compnsed of network assets (including water mains, sewers, pumped raw water siorage
reservoirs and sludge pipelines) and non-network assets PP&E 1s stated at cost (or at deemed cost in the case of network assets, being
the fair value at the date of transition to IFRS) less accumulated depreciation and prowvision for impatrment

The Group capitalises the directly attributable costs of procunng and constructing PP&E in accordance with IAS16 Property, Plant and
Equipment These costs include labour and other internal costs incremental to the business due to the scale and nature of the capital
implementation programme of the Group Subsequent costs are included in the assel’s carrying amount or recogmised as a separate asset,
as appropnate, only when it 1s probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and its cost can be
measured rehably

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or produchon of a qualifying asset that necessanly takes a substantial
penod of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the associated asset All other borrowing costs
are included as finance expenses within the income statement

Where items of PP&E are transterred to the Group from customers or developers, generally in the form of adopted water mains, self-lay
sewers or adopted pumping stations, the fair value of the asset transferred 1s recognised in the statement of financial position Fair value 1s
determined based on estimated replacement cost Where the transfer 1s in exchange for connection to the network and there 1s no further
obligation for engoing services, the corresponding credit 1s recogrised immediately within revenue Where the transfer i1s considered to be
linked to the provision of ongoing services, the corresponding ¢redit 1s recorded In deferred income and 18 released to other operating
income over the expected useful economic lives of the associated assets as shown below

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of PPAE 15 determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the transaction anses, and 1s recognised separately in the income statement

PP&E 1s depreciated to its estmated residual value over its estimaled useful ife, with the exception of freehold land which 1s not
depreciated Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated as these assets are not considered to commence their economic
lives unhl they are commissioned, whereupon they are transferred into an appropriate category of PP&E

The estimated useful econormc lives are as follows

Years
Network assets
Reservoirs 250
Stralegic sewer components 200
Wastewater network assets 150
Water network assels 80-100
Raw water tunnels and agueducts 80
Non-network assets
Land and buildings
Buildings 15-60
Operational structures 30-100
Plant and equipment
Other operational assets 7-40
Fixtures & fittings 5-7
Vehicles 4-5
Computers 3-5
Fixed and mobile plant 4-60

Grants and contributions

Contributions receved In respect of cerlain infrastructure charges (where on connection of a new property to the network the Group
receives cash from the developer towards the investment required to enhance network capacity, to meet new demand and maintain service
levels) are treated as deferred income and released to other operating income over a 30 year period

Contnbutions which are given in compensation for expenses incurred with no future related costs, including the cost of excavating,

connecting and reinstating a new water supply to an existing mains connection, are recognised within other operating income in the penod
that they become recewvable as no continuing obligation remains once the connection has been made
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Intangible assets (excluding goodwill)

Separately acquired intangible assets are stated at cosl, less accumulated amortisation and any provision for imparment Research
expenditure 15 expensed to the income statement as incurred Development expenditure 15 capitalised when appropnate critena are met
under IAS 38 Intangible Assets Amortisation of the asset begins when development 1s complete and the asset 1s available for use itis
amertised over the pericd of expected future beneht on a project by project basis Amortisation 1s charged to the income statement on a
straight-ine basis over the estimated usefu! economic ife of the intangible asset These intangtble assets are amortised from the date they
become avallable for use The estimated useful economic Iife 1s as follows

Years
Development expenditure 3-25
Software 5-10

Non-current asset investment in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost, less any prowision for impairment

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are reclassified as held for sale if all of the following cnitena are satisfied

» the carrying amount will be recovered principally through sale rather than through continuing use,
« the asset s avallable for immediate sale mn its present condittont, and
« asales considered to be highly probable

On intial reclassification as held for sale, non-current assets are measured at the lower of the previous carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, with any adjustments being recogrised within the income statement Once classified as held for sale no further depreciation or
amortisation 1s recognmised

Inventories

Inventones are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (“*NRV™) Costs compnise direct matenals and, where applicable, direct
labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventones to their present location and condition Cost 1s
calculated using the weighted average basis Inventory 1s assessed for obsolescence on an stem-by-item basis and when determined to be
ohsolete 15 wnitten oft immediately to the income statement

Purchased carbon emission allowances (relating to the emission of carbon dioxide In the UK) are recorded within current inventones as
intangible assets, inibially at cost and subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value A provision ts sirnultaneously recorded In
respect of the cbligation to deliver emission allowances In the penod in which the emissions are made and the associated charge 1s
recognised as an operating expense within the income statement

Leased assets

Leases where the Group obtains assets which transfer substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership to the Group are treated as
finance teases The lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum lease payments 1S capilalised as an
asset, with a corresponding liability representing the obligation to the lessor Lease payments are treated as consisting of a capital element
and a finance charge, the capital element reducing the obligation to the lessor and the finance charge being wniten off to the income
statement at a constant rate over the penod of the lease, in proportion to the capital amount outstanding Depreciation 1s charged at the
shorter of the esttmated usefu! economic life and the lease penod

All other leases are classified as operating leases Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the income statement on a
straight line basis over the term of the lease Lease incentives and premiums received are recognised in the income statement as an
integral part of the total lease expense and are released to the income statement on a straight hne basis over the term of the lease Leases
of land are ordinanly treated as operating leases, unless ownership 1s transferred to the Group at the end of the lease

On completion of construction of the Thames Tideway Tunnel, the Group will be granted use of the tunnel under a 125 year lease As
substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group and the fease 1s for a substantiai part of the tunnel's life,
the Company will account for the transaction as a finance lease The tunne! will be therefore be recognised as an asset within Property,
Plant and Equpment and depreciated over the Iife of the lease On inception of the lease, the tunnel will be recogrised at fair value, being
the prepayment plus the present value of the minimum lease payments, with a corresponding hability being recogrised as a finance lease
payable Interest will be recognised in the income statement over the penod of the lease
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Provisions for liabilities and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it 1s probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the abligation and the amount can be reliably estimated

The Group Is subject to a number of claims which relate to and include commercial and contraciual disputes, which are handled and
defended in the ordinary course of business The Company routinely assesses the likehhood of any adverse judgements or outcomes to
these matters as well as ranges of probable and reasonably estimated losses Reasonable estmates involve judgements made by
management after considening avallable mformation including notifications, settlements, estimates performed by independent parties and
legal counsel, available facls, dentification of other potentially responsible entities and their ability to contribute, and prior experience

Prowisions for insured liabilities are recognised or released by assessing their adequacy using current estimates of future cash flows under
insurance contracts

Provisions are discounted to present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability, where the effect 1s
materal

The Group I1s subject to Quicome Delivery Incentives (*ODIs") where faiture to achieve targets can lead to financial penalties and
outperformance can result in inancial rewards These penalties and rewards are in the form of revenue adjustments or Regulated Capital
Value (“RCV") adjusiments The Group does not recognise a provision for penalties or rewards in the period in which they are incurred or
achieved as the financial iImpact of these is taken in the following AMP period

Risks, opportunities and innovation (“ROI”) funds

The Group has entered Into certain allance arrangements with a number of third parties The alliance agreements include incentive
mechanisms which result in the alliance partners shanng in any over or underspend on contracted works, as well as shanng In outcomes
against TWUL's performance commitments During the year ended 31 March 2016 there wete two allances responsible for delivering
various works over AMP &

A notional RO! fund for each allance 1s created and built up over the AMP once certain conditions, as specified In the contract between
TWUL and the alliance partners, are satisfied

A provision for RO1 amounts 15 recoghised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, i is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estmated Conversely, a
recevable for RO! will be recogmised when the Group has a nght to receve cash at a future date, the amount can be rehably estimated and
recetpt is virtually certain

ROl amounts ansing from an over or underspend aganst the contracted cost for a capital project, where the spend 15 directly attnbutable to
the asset created, 15 deemed to be an integral cost in bringing an asset into the condition and location for use as intended by management
and therefore 15 capitalised as part of the cost of the asset and depreciated over the asset's useful ife

ROl amounts ansing from operating expenditure over or underspend against the contracled cost, where the spend cannot be directly
attributed to a capital asset, 1s recogmised directly in profit or loss as the spend 1s incurred ROl amounts resutting from an ODI penalty or
reward 1s recognised in the income statement at the point the penalty has been incurred or reward has been achieved

Dividends

Dividends unpaid at the financial reporting date are only recognised as a liabilty al that date to the extent that they are appropnately
authorised and are no longer at the discretion of the Company This occurs when the shareholders nght to receive payment has been
established Unpaid dividends that do not meet these cntena are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements

Financial guarantees

Five compares in the Group are part of a whole business securtisation group Companies in the whole business secuntisation group raise
debt in external debt markets through the 1ssuance of secured bonds and the i1ssue of loans Thames Water Utiiies Holdings Limited,
Thames Water Utilhes Limited, Thames Water Utihties Finance Limited, Thames Water Utilies Cayman Finance Holdings Limited and
Thames Water Utilties Cayman Finance Limited have guaranteed the prancipal and interest payments due under the terms of the bonds
Where a company enters into financial guarantee contracts to guaraniee the indebtedness of other compames within this group, the
company considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such In this respect, the company treats the guarantee
contract as a contingent hability until such a time as 1t becomes probable that the company will be required to make a payment under the
guarantee
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Retirement and other employment benefits

Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates three, independently administered, defined benefit pension schemes, all of which are closed to new employees
Actuanal valuations are carned out as determined by the Trustees, using the projected unit credit method for both schemes at intervals of
not more than three years The rales of contributions payable and the pension cost are determined on the advice of the actuanes, having
regard to the results of these valuations

The difterence between the value of defined benefit pension scheme assets and llabilies 1s recorded within the statement of fimancial
position as a retirement benefit or obligation Defined benefit pension scherme assets are measured at far value using the bid pnice for
assets with quoted prices Defined benefit penston scheme liabilities are measured at the reporting date by an independent actuary ustng
the projected urnit credit method and discounted at the cusrent rate of return on high qualty bonds of equivalent term and currency to the
hability

Service cost, representing the cost of employee service in the penod, and scheme administration expenses are included within operating
expenses in the Income statement The net finance cost 1s calculated by applying the discount rate used for the scheme liabilities to the net
deficit

Changes in the retirement benefit obligation may arise from

« differences between the return on scheme assets and interest included n the ncome statement,
= acluanal gans and losses from experience adjustments, or
+ changes in demographic or financial assumptions

Such changes are classified as re-measuremenls and are charged or credited to equity and recorded within the statement of
comprehensive income 1n the penod in which they anse

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a Defined Contribution Stakeholder Pension Scheme (“DCSPS”) managed through Standard Life Assurance Limited
From 1 Apnl 2011 the DCSPS 1s the only scheme to which new employees of the Company are eligible The assets of the DCSPS are held
separately from those of the Group and obhgations for contnbuhions 10 the scheme are recogmised as an expense n the income statement
in the penods dunng which they fall due

The Group also operales two closed defined contribution pension schemes The Greup has no further payment cbligations, however
defined funds for individuals are held withun these schemes

Long-term incentive plans (“LTiP") and bonus

Cash based LTIP awards are accrued in the financial statements for the duration of the award The accrual 1s based on the values
assessed for the applicable schemes, taking mto account the duration of the individual scheme, and by companng the Group’s
performance against the assumptions used to award payments These are recognised as the present value of the benefit obligation

Bonus payments are accrued In the period based on assessments of performance against targets set at the beginning of the financial year
Bonuses are paid in the following financial year, once performance has been measured aganst targets set

During the year, the Group launched a new ‘Share in Your Success’ scheme The scheme 1s open to all employees Employees are able to
contribute between £20 and £250 per month from their salary into a savings account over a three year period At the end of the three
years, the employee 1s then entitled to all of the cash they have sacnficed duning that penod, plus interest that has accrued on that balance,
and a ‘bonus' element paid by the Group of up to 35% of the amount invested if an employee 15 to leave the Group within the three year
period, then they are entitled to the amount they have invested up to the point of departure, including the interest earned in that perod
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Non-derivative financial instruments

A financial instrument 1s any conltract that gives nse to a financial asset in one entity and a financial hability or equity instrument in another
entity Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings and
trade and other payables

Trade and other receivables

Trade and olher receivables are measured at fair value on init:al recognition Subsequent to inihal recognition they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method If there s objective evidence that the asset 1s impaired it 15 wniten down to its
recoverable amount and the irrecoverable amount 1s recognised as an expense within operating costs Debt 1s only written off after all
available economic options for collecting the debt have been exhausted and the debt has been deemed to be uncollectable This may be
because the debt 1s considered to be impossible, impractical, inefficient or uneconomic to collect, and 1s assessed by management on a
case-by-case basis

Included within trade receivables 1s an assessment of the recoverablity of debts which will ultimately be cancelled, and may or may not be
rebilled, and of debts which have not yet been billed but are part of the metered sales accrual This assessment 1s made by reference to
the Company's historical collection expenence, including comparnisons of the relative age of the individual balance and consideration of the
actual write-off history The provisioning rates applied in the calculation are reviewed on an annual basis to reflect the latest histoncal
collection performance data and management’s expectation of future perfermance and industry trends A prowision 15 also made against
debts due from Water Only Companies (“WOCs") who bill their customers for sewerage services provided by the Group As detailled
information about the debt, including the ageing, 1s unavallable the leve! of prowvision 18 calculated with reference to the level of histoncal,
current and forecast write-offs

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value Subsequent to 1nihal recognition they are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method

Trade and other payables include amounts owed to Bazalgette Tunnel Limited Arnounts owed to Bazalgette Tunne! Limited represent
revenue collected on behalf of Bazalgette Tunnel Limited for the construction of the Thames Tideway Tunnel

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash al bank and in hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly iquid investments that
are readily converlible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value Such investments are
normally those with less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition and include cash and bank balances and investments in
hgquid funds

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand form an integral part of the Group's cash management and are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows

Interest bearing loans issued to other group companies

Interest beaning loans ssued to other group companies are imtally recognised at farr value plus transaction costs that arg directly
atinbutable to the acquisition of the financial asset They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method, less any provision for impainment The amortisation 1s included within finance income 1n the income statement and 1s calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral par of the effective interest rate

Interest bearing borrowings
Interest bearing borrowings are financial habiliies recogrised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs Subsequent to imitial
recognition these are stated al amortised cost using the effective interest method The amortisation 1s included within finance costs in the

income statement and 1s calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate
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Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivative financial instruments not designated as hedging instruments

Denvative financial instruments are iniially recogrised at fair value with transaction costs being taken to the income statement The gain or
loss on re-measurement to far value 1s recognised immediately in prohit or loss

Derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments

The Group uses denvative linancial Instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its foreign currency
nisks and interest rate nsks, respectively At the inception of each hedge relationship the Group documents

« the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item,

« 1ts nsk management objectives and strategy for undertaking the hedge transaction, and

« the results of tesis to determine whether the hedging instrument 1s expected to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash
flows or fair values (as applicable) of the hedged item

The Group continues to test and document the effectiveness of the hedge on an ongoing basis Hedge accounting discontinues when the
hedging instrument expires, 1s sold, terminated or exercised, or no lenger quahfies for hedge accounting

Cash flow hedges

Where a denvative financial instrument 1s designated as a hedge of the varability in cash flows of a recogmised asset or hability, or a tughly
probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or toss on the derivative financial instrument 1s recognised directly in the cash
flow hedge reserve Any ineffective portion of the hedge 1s recognised immediately in the iIncome statement

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial llabiity, the associated
cumulative gain or loss 1s removed from the cash flow hedge reserve and reclassified to the income statement in the same period or
penods duning which the asset acquired or liability assumed alfects profit or loss, 1 @ when interest income or expense 1$ recognised

When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised, or the Company revokes designation of the hedge relatienship but
the hedged forecast transaction 1s still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and 1s recogmised In
accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs If the hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to take place, the
cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised In equity 1s recognised in the Income statement immediately

Embedded denivatives
Where a contract includes terms that cause some of its cash flows to vary in a similar way to a denvative financial instrument, that part of
the contract 1s considered to be an embedded denvative Embedded denvatives are separated from the contract and measured at farr

value with gains and losses taken to the income statement (f

« the nsks and charactenstics of the embedded denvative are not closely related to those of the contract, and
« the contract 1s not carried at fair value with gains and losses reported in the income statement

In all other cases embedded denvatives are accounted for in line with the accounting policy for the centract as a whole
Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial mstruments such as dervatives at fair value at each financial reporting date Far value 1s the price that

would be received i selling an asset or paid to transfer a hiability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date The farr value reflects the non-performance nsk

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and financial habilities are offset and the net amount reported in the staterment of financial position if there 1s a currently

enforceable legal nght to offsel the recogmised amounts and there 1s an intention to settle on a net bass, or to realise the assets and settle
the habiliies simultaneously
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De-recognition of financial instruments

A financial asset 1s de-recogrised when the rights to recewve cash flows from the asset have expired

A financial liability 15 de-recogrused when the obligation under the hability 1s discharged, cancelled or expires When an existing financial
Lability 1s replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modiftied, such an exchange or modification 15 treated as the de-recognition of the onginal hability and the recogrution of a new habihity The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred and the consideration paid 1s recognised In the
income statement

Impairment (excluding inventories, goodwill and deferred tax assets)

Financial assets (Including receivables)

A financia! asset not carried al fair value through profit or loss s assessed at each financial reporting date to determing whether there 1s
objective evidence that it 1s impaired A financial asset 1s impaired If objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the
imitial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset and can be
measured rehably

An impairment loss n respect of a financial asset measured at amorhised cost 1s calculated as the difference between its carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset's onginal effective interest rate Interest on the imparred
asset continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss
to decrease, the decrease 1n impairment 1s reversed through the income statement

Trade receivables that are assessed not to be impaired individually are assessed collectively for impairment by reference to the Group’s
historical collection experience for receivables of a similar age

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's non-financial assets, other than inventones and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each financial
reporting date to determine whether there i1s any indication of impairment If any such indication exists then the assets recoverable amount
1s estimated

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 1s the greater of its value in use and its far value less costs to sell In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to therr present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the assel

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows from cantinuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the “cash-
generating umt”)

An imparrment loss 1s recognised If the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generatng unit exceeds s estimated recoverable amount
Impairment losses are recognised In the income statement tmpairment fosses recogmised in prior periods are assessed at each financial
reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists An impairment loss s reversed if there has been a
change i the estimates used to delermine the recoverable amount An imparrment loss 1s reversed only to the extent that the asset’s
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recogrused

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the period compnses current and deferred tax Tax is recogmsed in the income statement except to the extent
that It relates to items recognised directly within equity, In which case 1t s recognised within the statement of other comprehensive income

Current tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustiments to tax payable in respect of pravious periods

Taxable profit differs from the profit on ordinary activiies before tax as reperted in the income statement because it excludes items of

income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods This includes the effect of tax allowances and further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible
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Deferred tax

Deferred tax s the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habilibes in the
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and 15 accounted for using the balance
sheet hatility method Deferred tax 1s measured on a non-discounted basis using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date and that are expected to apply in the period when the deferred tax asset 1s realised or the deferred tax hability 1s settled

Deferred tax habiities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary difference and deferred tax assets are recogmised only to the
extent that 1t 1s probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be avarlable against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax habilities are offset when there 1s a tegally enforceable right to set oft tax assels aganst tax liabihties
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authonty and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabillittes on a net basis

New accounting policies and future requirements
At the date of approval of these financial statements the following standards and interpretations were in1ssue but not yet effective

» IFRS 9 Fmnanceal Instruments 15 likely to affect the measurement and disclosure of financial statements This standard has not yet
been endorsed by the EU

+ IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers will affect the measurement and recognition of revenue with effect from 1 Apnl
2018 The impact on the results or net assels of the Group due to the changes to the standard has not yet been quantified This
standard has not yet been endorsed by the EU

e IFRS 16 Leases will affect the measurement and recogmition of leases, in particular operating leases, with effect from 1 April 2019
The effect on the results or net assets of the Group due to the changes to the standard has not yet been quantified This standard has
not yet been endorsed by the EU
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Significant accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, the Group 1s required to make certain judgements, estimates and assumptions
that 1t believes are reasonable based on avallable information Although these estimates are based on management's best knowledge of
the amount, event or actions, actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the financtal reporting date used in preparing
these financial statements are as follows

Property, plant and equipment

The Group capitalises expenditure relating to water and wastewater infrastructure where such expenditure enhances or increases the
capacity of the network Maintenance expenditure 1s taken to the income statement in the penod I which 1t 1s incurred Differentiating
enhancement from maintenance expenditure I1s subjective, particularly where a single project may include a mix of both types of activities
Addittonally management capitalises employee time and other expenses incurred by central functions on capital programmes and
consequently judgement 1s applied concerning the capitalisation rate used

Calculation of the depreciation charge requires estimates to be made regarding the useful economic lives of the assets These estimates
are based on engineenng data and the Group’s experience of similar assets If management identifies that actual useful economic lives
differ matenally from the estimates used to calculate the depreciation charge, that charge will be adjusted prospectively

The Group 1s required to evaluate the carrying values of PP&E for impairment whenever the circumstances indicate that the carrying value
of those assets may not be recoverable An imparment review requires management to make subjective judgements regarding the
recoverable value and value in use of the assets under review

Unbilled revenue

Revenue reflects the fair value of the consideration receved, or receivable, in the ordinary course of business, excluding value added tax
and trade discounts, for goods and services provided Revenue 1s recognised at the time of delivery of the service and consequently
payments received in advance of revenue recognition are recorded as deferred income

The Group raises bills in accordance with its enbtlement to receive revenue in line with the himits established by the periodic regulatory
pnice review processes For water and wastewater customers with water meters, the amount recogrnised depends on the volurme supplied
including an estimate of the sales value of units supplied belween the date of the fast meter reading and the financial reporting date
Amounts recognised within revenue but unbilled at the financial reporting date are included within accrued income Meters are read on a
cychical basis and the Group recognises revenue for unbilled amounts based on estimated usage from the last billing to the financial
reporiing date The estimated usage s based on historical data, judgement and assumptions

Where actual results differ from estimates used, revenue 1s adjusted in the penod for which the reviston to the estimate 15 determined
Provision for doubtful debt

Provisions are made against trade receivables based on an assessment of the recavery of debls including those which wall ultimately be
cancelled, and may or may not be rebilled, and of debts which have not yet been billed but are par of the metered sales accrual This
assessment 1s made by reference to the Group’s histoncal collection expenence, including compansons of the relative age of the iIndmdual
balance and consideration of the actual write-off history The actual level of recewvables collected may differ from the estimated leve! of
recovery which could affect operating results positively or negatively

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates defined benefit pension schemes for which full actuanal valuations are carried out as determined by the trustees at
intervals of not more than three years Determining the amount of the Group'’s retirement benehit obhgations and the net costs of providing
such benefits requires assumptions to be made ncluding, but not restricted to, long term interest rales, inflation and rate of increases {o
pensions in payment These are assessed using the advice of an independent qualified acluary, market observations and assumptions
from the latest actuanal valuation

Changes in these assumphons could significantly affect the amount of abligations recognised and the cost of providing such benehis
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Provisions for other lhabilities and charges

Assessing the financial outcome of uncertain commercial and legal cases requires judgement to be made regarding the extent to which any
claim against the Group 15 lkely to be successful after considenng avalable information including notifications, settlements, estimates
performed by independent parties and legal counsel, available tacts, identification of other potentially responsible entiies and their ability to
contribute, and prior expenence

The required provision may change 1n the future due to new developments and as additional information becomes avadable and in such
instances the provision will be adjusted prospectively

Fair value of derivatives

The fair value of financial assets and liabiiies represents the pnice that would be recewved to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a hability
between informed and willing parties, other than in a forced or iquidation sale at the measurement date The fair value of the derivatives 1s
determined by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and matunty of each contract and using market interest rates al
the measurement date The valuations are tested for reasonableness by comparing these to bank quoles The fair vaiue calculations have
been adjusted to Incorporate the Group’s own and counterparty’s credit nsk where appropriate

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries and goodwill

Determining whether the Group's mvestments in subsidianes or the carrying value of goodwill have been impaired requires estimations of
the investment or cash generating unit's net realisable value An enterprise valuation 1s denved through the apphication of an observable
market multiphier uplhift to the underlying entiies Regulatory Capital Value (“RCV") The recoverable amount 1s thus most sensitive to the
uplift multiplier used in the valuation model See notes 12 and 32 for the net carrying value of the investments and associated impairment
proviston
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Notes to the Group financial statements
1. Revenue

2016 2015

£Em £m

Regulated water and wastewater services 2,0333 1,975 9
Other services 512 629
Gross revenue 2,084.5 20388
Charge for bad and doubtful debts (377) (36 6}
Net revenue 2,046 8 2,002 2

All revenue 1s derived from actvities based in the United Kingdom In future penods, revenue will include amounts billed to wastewater
customers on behalf of Bazelgette Tunnel Limited in respect of construction costs for the Thames Tideway Tunne!

2. Operating expenses

2016 2015
£m £m
Wages and salanes 199 4 1813
Social securnty costs 182 175
Pension costs — defined benefit schemes {excluding curtailment gan) 236 246
Pension costs — curtailment gain on defined benefit schemes - (10 0)
Pension costs — defined contribution schemes 52 43
Severance costs 17 122
Release of restructunng prowvision 54) -
Total employee costs 2427 22949
Power 1100 105 1
Carbon reduction commitment 62 80
Raw matenals and consumables 45.0 419
Charge for bad and doubtful debts 274 379
Rates 936 90 6
Depreciation of property, ptant and eguipment 479 4 476 4
Amortisation of intangible assels 186 225
Operating lease rental — hire of plant and machinery 18 38
Operating lease rental — other g1 is
Property development costs - 16
Research and development expenditure 31 40
Other operating costs 5541 552 4
Gross operating costs 1,591 0 1,577 9
Own work capitalised (134 9) (144 7)
Net operating expenses 1,456 1 1,433 2

The one-oft non-cash curtalment gam of £10 0 million in 2015 arose as a result of the calculation of members’ benefits in Mirror Image
Pension Scheme changing from final salary to Career Average Revalued Earnings {“CARE"} Amounts payable to the Group’s auditor are
shown below in respect of the following services to the Group

2016 2015
£'000 £000
Fees payable 1o the Group's auditor
Fees payable for the audit of the Company's financial statements 36 36
Fees payable for the audit of the financial statements of subsidianes pursuant to legislation 448 416
Fees payable to the Group's auditor for other services
Audit related assurance services 155 a3
Other assurance services 761 718
Taxation compliance services - 1
Other tax advisory services 16 60
Corporate finance services 570 2,376
Gther services 224 161
Total 2,210 3,871
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2, Operating expenses (continued)

Other services include certain agreed upon procedures performed by KPMG LLP in connection with the Group's regulatory reporting
requirements to Ofwat

Fees for corporate finance services above include £0 6 million (2015 £2 4m) in respect of advice on the Thames Tideway Tunnel These
costs have been capitalised as part of the design phase of the project The contract was awarded to KPMG LLP in a pror year following a

competitive tendering process in ine with the Group's procurement processes

No fees, other than those disclosed, were payable to KPMG LLP in respect of the Company, or Group, In the current or preceding financial

year

3. Employees and Directors

Employees

All Group employees are based in the United Kingdom The average number of persons employed by the Group during the year (including

Executive Directors), analysed by category, was as follows

2016 2015
Number Number
Employsd by Thames Water Utilities Lirited
Retail 937 880
Wholesale Water 1,887 1,652
Wholesale Wastewater 1,746 1,771
Group services 487 506
5,057 4,809
Employed by other group compamnies
Property services 7 8
Total 5,064 4,817
The Company has no employees (2015 none)
Directors
The Directors’ emoluments were as follows
2016 2015
£'000 £'000
Salary 827 834

At 31 March 2016 no benefits were accruing to any Directors (2015 £nil) under the Group's defined benefit scheme in respact of services

provided to the Group

Highest paid Director

Total emoluments, including payments and accruals under long term incentive schemes of the highest paid Director 1n respect of work

done for the Group during the year were £325,000 (2015 £325,000)

4. Other operating income
2018 2015
£m £m
Power income 80 68
Requisitions and diversions charges 226 228
Service connection charges 21.6 196
Release from deferred income — infrastructure charges 141 130
Rental incorne 79 48
Total 74 2 67 0

Power income compnses of income from the sale of internally generated electncity
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5. Finance income
2016 2015
£m £m
Interest income on bank deposits 28 78
Interest Income on swaps 1047 11186
Total 107 5 1194
6. Finance expense
2016 2015
£m £m
interest in relation to bank and other loans
Interest expense 461 8 4452
RPI accretion on {oans a7 48 5
Interest expense on swaps 748 819
Swap termination expense 05 -
Amortisation {11 6) (11 4)
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation 102 81
Gross finance expense 5734 5723
Capttalised borrowing costs (114 49) (86 4)
Total finance expense 459 0 4859
7. Net gains/(losses) on financial instruments
2016 2015
£m £m
Exchange (losses)/gains on other loans (68.6) 58
Gain/(loss) ansing on swaps where hedge accounting I1s not applied 913 (252 7)
Total 227 (246 9)
8. Taxation
Tax credit in the iIncome statement
2016 2015
£m £m
Current tax
Current year amounts due in respect of corporation tax - -
Adjustment in respect of prior penods (6 0) 29
{6 0} (29)
Deferred tax
Ongination and reversat of temporary differences 758 314
Adjustment \n respect of pnor penods (370) (132 2)
Adjustment 1s respect of corporation tax rate changes (118.7) (1 6}
{79.9) (102 4)
Tax credit on prokit on ordinary activities {85 9) (105 3)

Reductions in the UK corporation lax rate from 20% to 19% {effeciive from 1 Aprl 2017) and 18% (effective from 1 April 2020) were
substantively enacted on 26 October 2015 A further reduction to the UK corporation tax rate was announced in the 2016 Budget to further
reduce the tax rate to 17% (to be effective from 1 Apni 2020) The deferred tax asset at the balance sheet date has been calculated based

on the rate of 18% substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
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8. Taxation (continued)

The tax charge for the year ended 31 March 2016 15 lower (2015 lower) than the standard rale of corporation tax in the UK The

differences are explained below

2016 2015
£m £m
Prohit on ordinary activities before taxation 3846 390
Current tax at 20% (2015 21%) 76.9 82
Effects of
Disallowable expendiiure 68 64
Non-taxable income (8 0) (5 6}
Tax losses carmied forward - 224
Effact of tax change on temporary uming differences (118 6) 18
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior penods - group relief {6 0} 29
Adjustments 1o tax charge in respect of prior periods — deferred tax {37 0) (132 2)
Total tax credit {85 9) {105 3)
The income tax (charged)/credited directly to equity dunng the year is as follows
2016 2015
£m £m
Deferred tax
Tax on actuanal {gain)/loss {30 8) 254
Tax on cash flow hedges 87 308
Total (22 1} 56 2
9. Intangible assets
Assels In
Software Other development Total
£m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 Apnt 2014 1268 13 - 1281
Additions 14 8 - - 148
At 31 March 2015 1416 13 - 1429
Additions 104 - 169 27.3
At 31 March 2016 152 0 13 169 170 2
Amortisation
At 1 Apnl 2014 {62 1) {06) - (627)
Amortisation charge (22 4) {01 - {22.5)
At 31 March 2015 (84 5) 07) - (85 2)
Amortisation charge (18 5) o1 - (18.6)
At 31 March 2016 (103 0} (0 8) - (103 8)
Net book value
At 31 March 2016 490 05 169 €6 4
At 31 March 2015 571 06 - 577
Al 1 Apnl 2014 647 07 - 65 4

Other intangible assets include concessions, licences and similar nights and assets
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Land & Plant & Network Assets under
bulldings equipment assets construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 Apni 2014 33430 59129 5,154 7 1,802 1 16,2127
Additions 106 6 - 64 1,256 2 1,369.2
Transfers betwaen categories 1032 436 2 2069 (746 3) -
Disposals (09) (18 0} - - (18 9)
Al 31 March 2015 35519 6,331 1 5,368 0 23120 17,563.0
Additions 02 - 51 1,1935 1,198 8
Transfers between categornes 47 8 364 1 1,102 2 (1,514 1) -
Disposals (27 2) (2 2) 0 1) - (29 5)
At 31 March 2016 3,572 7 6,693 0 6,475 2 1,891 4 18,732.3
Deprecration
At 1 April 2014 (815 2) {2,981 7) - - (3,796 9)
Depreciation charge (56 4) (299 2) (120 8) - {476 4)
Disposals 02 17 4 - - 176
At 31 March 2015 (871 4) (3,263 5} (120 8) - {4,255 7)
Depreciation charge (56 2) (299 8) (123 6) - (479 4)
Disposals 260 18 01 - 279
At 31 March 2016 (901 6) (3,561 3) {244 3) - (4,707 2)
Net book value
At 31 March 2016 2,671 1 31317 6,230 9 1,991 4 14,025 1
At 31 March 2015 2,6805 3,067 6 5,247 2 23120 13,307 3
At 1 April 2014 2,527 8 29312 51547 1,802 1 12,415 8

£114 4 million borrowing costs were capitalised dunng the period (2015 £86 4 million) The effective rate of borrowing costs for the year was 4 22%
(2015 4 29%)

11. Interests in associates

Thames Water Limited, a wholly owned subsichary of the Group, controls 50% of the share capital of Foudry Properties Limited (“*Foudry”),
a property company incorporated in the United Kingdom The company made a loss 1in 2016 of £0 7 million (2015 £0 4m) and has net
habilities of £9 6 million (2015 £8 9m) The Group's share of these losses relate solely to loan and associated interest balances owed to
the Group, which have been fully provided for, and consequently no separate provision in respect of these losses has been recognised

As at 31 March 2016 the associates did not have any significant contingent labiities to which the Group was exposed and the Group did
not have any significant contingent habilities in relation 1o its interests in associates (2015 £ml) The Group had no capital commitments in
relation to Its interests n associates as at 31 March 2016 (2015 £nil)

12. Goodwill

The Directors have reviewed the carrying value of goodwill in line wath the accounting policy on page 31 and do not consider there to be
any impairment to this carrying value for the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015 £nil}

All purchased goodwill, which arose on acquisition of the Thames Water group in 2008, has been allocated to the regulated water and
wastewater business Impairment of this purchased goodwill occurs where the carrying value 1s 1n excess of the net realisable value, the
expected sales value of the regulated business

Due 1o the lack of an active market, or recent transaction involving the equity of the regulated business, an equity valuation model has
been used which takes an external, observable, market multiplier uplift to the Regulatory Capital Value (“RCV™) of the regulated business
Ofwat, an external regulator, have developed the RCV as a measure of the capital value of the business, and the use of a multiplier reflects
any premium to which the equity of publically listed waler utihties 1s being iraded

The crntical assumption s thus the multiple of RCV used As at 31 March 2016, for the carrying amount of goodwll to exceed the
recoverable amount, a 21% reduction to the multiplier used would be required
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13. Inventories and current intangible assets

As at 1 April

2016 2015 2014

£m £m £m

Raw materials and consumables 126 78 61
Current mtangible assets — emissions allowances 94 21 -
Total 220 99 61

Emission allowances represent purchased carbon emission allowances (relating to the emissicn of carbon dioxide in the UK) A provision
(see nole 20) 1s simultaneously recorded in respect of the obligation to deliver emission allowances i the penod in which the emissions are

made and the associated charge 1s recognised as an operating expense within the income statement

14, Trade and other receivables

As at 1 April
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Non-current
Prepayment 1n respect of the Thames Tideway Tunnel 13 - -
Qther recewables 25 - -
38 - -
Current
Gross trade receivables 409 3 4035 402 7
Less doubtful debt provision {189 9) {179 0) (178 5)
Net trade recevables 2194 2245 224 2
Amounts owed by associated companies 28 28 28
Insurance claims receivable 169 251 386
Prepayments and accrued income 2789 2205 2106
Other receivables 522 539 508
570.2 526 8 5270
Total 574 0 5268 527 0

The Directors consider that the carrying armount of trade and other receivables 1s approximately equal to their far value Prepayments and

accrued income at 31 March 2016 includes water and wastewater ncome not yet billed of £245 0 mullion {2015 £188 2m)

Doubtful debts provision

Movemenis in the doubtful debts provision were as follows

2016 2015

£m £m

At 1 April (179 0) (178 5)
Charge for bad and doubtful debts — charged agamnst revenue (377} (36 6)
Charge for bad and doubtful debts — included within operating expenses (27 4) (37 9)
Amounts written off 54 2 740
Total at 31 March (189.9) (179 0)

The ageing of debt past its due date but not yet impaired cannct be performed Ageing of gross receivables is as follows

As at 1 Apnl

2016 2015 2014

£m £m £m

Up to 90 days 418 348 44 9
91 — 365 days 1884 2026 193 6
1 -2 vyears 79.5 697 694
2 -3 years 373 371 408
More than 3 years 623 593 540
Total 409 3 4035 402 7
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14. Trade and other receivables (continued)

A collective provision is recorded against assets which are past due but for which no indwvidual provision 1s made Thus s calculated based
on histoncal expenence of levels of recovery Ageing of impaired receivables I1s as follows

As at 1 Aprl
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Up to 90 days
91 — 365 days 795 748 762
1-2years 370 305 308
2 -3 years 209 187 220
More than 3 years 525 540 495
Total 1899 1790 178 5
Trade and other recewvables are part of the Group's financial exposure to credit nsk as explained on page 15
15. Cash and cash equivalents
As at 1 April
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Cash at bank and in hand 70 210 131
Short-term deposils 560.3 5507 4302
Total 567 3 5717 443 3

Included within cash at bank and in hand are restrnicted amounts of £nil (2015 £7 4 mullion} relating to collateral posted by denvative
counterparties that have failed to meet mimmum credit rating cntena assigned by Moody's The net effect of this transaction has a neutral
eftect on the Group's net debt

16. Trade and other payables

As at 1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m

Non-current
Accruals and deferred income 3622 3352 3119

Current

Trade payables 509 3 5896 462 1
Amounts owed to Bazalgette Tunnel Limited 15 - -
Accruals and deferred income 2871 275 4 2698
Corporation tax payable 10 93 120
Other taxation and social secunty 57 55 66
Other payables CE 37 06
814.5 8935 7511
Total 1,176 7 1,2287 1,063 0

Accruals and deferred income include £85 7 million (2015 £82 1m) of receipts in advance relating to amounts received from customers for
water and wastewater charges

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables 1s approximately equal o their fair value
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17. Borrowings

As at 1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
fm £m £m
Secured bank loans 2,489 2 2,288 2 22817
Other financing 9,313 1 8,8692 8,459 2
Dervative collateral habihty - 74 -
11,802 3 11,164 8 10,7409
Interest payable on secured bank loans and other financing 2405 207 167 1
Total 12,042 8 11,366 5 10,928 0
Disclosed within current habilities 1,037 4 9519 5730
Disclosed wathin non-current habilities 11,005 4 10,414 6 10,355 0
Breakdown of secured bank loans:
As at 1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Thames Water Utilities Limited
£100 Om Class B floating rate loan due 2015 (a) - - 997
£200 Om floating rate loan due 2016 {(a), ()} 2000 1999 1997
£150 Om floating rate loan due 2017 1500 1500 150 0
£200 Om 0% Index linked loan due 2017 2005 2012 2021
£100 Orn floating rate loan due 2018 (a) 998 998 837
£60 Om 1 23% Index hinked loan due 2019 72.0 711 710
£60 0m 1 415% Index linked loan due 2020 718 709 707
£60 0m 1 513% Index linked loan due 2020 714 705 703
£60 Om 1 38% Index linked loan due 2020 712 703 700
£60 Om 1 356% Index hnked loan due 2020 713 703 699
£100 Om floating rate loan due 2020 (a), (c) 997 997 996
£75 0m 1 35% Index hinked loan due 2021 (e) 81.6 805 803
£100 Om floating rate loan due 2021 (a}, (c) 996 995 999
£215 Om 0 46% Index linked loan due 2023 (a) 226 8 2237 2229
£125 0m 0 598% Index linked loan due 2026 (a), (c) 1250 - -
£70 Om Class B 3 867% fixed rate loan due 2026 (a) 694 - -
£50 Om Class B 3 875% fixed rate loan due 2026 {a) 500 - -
£20 0m Class B floating rate loan due 2026 (a) 199 . .
£215 O 0 38% Index linked loan due 2032 (a), {b) 2213 2184 2152
£100 Om 3 28% Index linked loan due 2043 (a), (d) 1184 116 8 1163
£100 Om 0 790% Index linked loan due 2025 (a), (e) 1005 1000 -
Thames Water Utilities Limited total 2,220 2 1,942 6 19373
Kemble Water Finance Limited
£200m floating rate due 2016 (g), (h), {1} - 2000 2000
£150m floating rate due 2015 (a), (g), (1) - 1456 144 4
£75m floating rate due 2022 (a) 72.9 - -
£200m floating rate due 2025 (a} 196 1 - -
Kemble Water Finance Limited total 269.0 3456 344 4
Total secured bank loans 2,489 2 2,288 2 22817

{a) These loans are shown net of Issue costs

{b) This debt amortises in equal tranches from 2017 onwards

(¢} The interest margins of these two loans are based on a ratings gnd and will increase should the Secuntisation Group Semor Debt
credit rating be downgraded by both Standard & Poor's and Moedy's

(d) This debt amortises from 2023 to 2033 in tranches of £3 0 million, followed by tranches of £750,000 until matunty where there wiil be
a bullet payment of £25 0 million

{e) These Ioans contain a collar mechamism that himits total accretion repayment within a predetermined range

{f) Allloans are Class A except where highlighted

{g) Amounts repayable wholly in one year

{h) The Group holds five floating to fixed interest rate swaps on this debt which contain mandatory break clauses m March 2016 At this
date the outstanding mark-to-market balances would be settled to the counterpart in the money

() Loanis repayable on a monthly basis and therefore has been classed as current

{1} This loan facility was onginally due 1n 2015 but has subseguently been extended to 2016
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17. Borrowings (continued)

Breakdown of other financing

As at 1 Apni
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Thames Water Utiities Limited Group
£200m 4 9% Fixed rate bond due 2015 (c), {Q) - 2001 2005
€500m Euro 3 25% Fixed rate bond due 2016 (a) 3954 361 4 4133
£200m 5 05% Fixed rate bond due 2020 (c), (h) 203.1 203 8 2045
£225m 6 59% Fixed rate bond due 2021 (p) (1) 247 4 250 6 254 1
£175m 3 38% Index hnked bond due 2021 (b), (e) 2590 256 3 250 8
£550m 5 37% Class B fixed rate bond due 2025 (b), {q), (m) 547.9 547 1 547 5
£330m 6 75% Fixed rate bond due 2028 (b), (1} 3960 3092 4039
£300m 5 75% Class B Fixed rate bond due 2030 (b}, (a) 297 2 296 9 297 2
£200m 6 5% Fixed rate bond due 2032 (b}, (c), () 2504 252 3 255 1
£300m 4 37% Fixed rate bond due 2034 (b) 2951 294 9 205 0
£600m 5 13% Fixed rate bond due 2037 (b), (k), (¢) 6599 661 4 6635
€113m 2 30% CPI IL bond due 2022 (a), (c) o916 851 1008
20bn Yen 3 28% Fixed rate bond due 2038 (b), (¢) 1235 1123 1169
£50m 3 85% Index hinked bond due 2040 (¢) 593 586 583
£500m 5 5% Fixed rate bond due 2041 (b) 4891 488 9 4895
£50m 1 98% Index linked bond due 2042 (e} 629 629 610
£55m 2 09% Index Iinked bond due 2042 (b}, () 665 656 650
£40m 1 97% Index linked bond due 2045 (b), {e) 455 A5 5 451
£300m 4 625% Fixed rate bond due 2046 (b} 2929 200 8 2030
£100m 1 85% Index linked bond due 2047 (e} 12568 1243 1221
£200m 1 819% Index hnked bond due 2049 (b), {e) 2510 248 0 243 6
£300m 1 68% Index linked bond due 2053 (b), (e) 3994 395 4 3872
£300m 1 68% Index Iinked bond due 2055 (b), (e) 3994 305 4 387 2
£200m 1 77% Index linked bond due 2057 (b}, (e) 2510 248 0 243 6
£400m 7 241% Fixed rate bond due 2058 (d) 3993 3989 3990
£350m 1 76% Index linked bond due 2062 (b), (e) 4392 434 0 426 5
$156m FRN due 2015 (a), (c) - - 937
$150m 4 69% Class B USPP due 2019 (a), (b) 1033 998 886
£150m 3 87% USPP due 2022 (a) 104 2 101 1 902
$200m 4 020% USPP due 2024 (a) 1389 1347 1202
$250m 4 22% USPP due 2027 (a) 1737 168 5 1503
£500m 4 00% Fixed rate bond due 2025 (b) 494 3 493 9 -
£40m 0 75% index linked bond due 2034 (b) 398 - -
£45m 0 721% index hnked bond due 2027 (b) 44 6 - -
£300m 3 5% fixed rate bond due 2028 (b) 2959 - -
Fees {10.1) (14 4) (14 2)
84324 8,162 6 77530
Thames Water {Kemble) Finance plc
£400m 7 75% fixed rate bond due 2019 (b) 3971 396 2 3958
£175m 5 75% fixed rate bond due 2022 () 173.2 - -
5703 3962 3058
Kemble Water Eurobond plc
£310m Shareholder loan due 2021 3104 3104 3104
Total other financing 9,313 1 8,869 2 8,459 2
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17. Borrowings (continued)

{a) The Group has entered into swap agreements which elminate the nsk of currency fluctuations in relation to the Us Dollar, Euro and
Yen loans

{b) These loans are shown net of 1s5ue costs

{c) The Group has entered into swap agreements that convert this debt into index-hnked debt

(d} £400m Class A bond issued with a final matunty date of 9 April 2058 with a fixed coupon of 7 241% untl 9 Apnl 2018 it at this date
interest rates have risen, the bond will be “put’ at par by investors and repaid by the Group Should interest rates have fallen, the
bond wll be called by the Group and either re-marketed for the remaining 40-year penod al the underlying Puttable, Callable,
Resettable (“PCR™) rate (4 572%) plus the prevailing credit spread or the Group will seitle related denvative contracts with bank
counterparties and redeem the bond at par

{e) The value of the capital and interest elements of the index-linked loans is linked to movements In the Retail Price Index (“RP{")

{fy Amounts repayable wholly within one year

{g} This bond includes £nil {2015 £0 1m) fair value adjustment to carrying value at acquisition by Kemble Water Holdings Group

{h} This bond includes £3 1m (2015 £3 8m) far value adjustment to carrying value at acquisition by Kemble Water Holdings Group

(1) This bond £68 8m (2015 £72 2m) fair value adjustment lo carrying value at acquistion by Kemble Water Holdings Group

() This bond includes £52 8m (2015 £54 9m} farr value adjustment to carrying value at of acquisition by Kemble Water Holdings Group

{k} This bond includes £63 7m (2015 £65 3m) farr value adjustment to carrying value at acquisition by Kemble Water Holdings Group

{) This bond includes £22 4m (2015 £25 6m) farr value adjusiment to carrying value at acquisition by Kemble Water Holdings Group

{m) In July 2017 this Class B bond has a 'Step Up and Call' meaning the interest rate changes to 3 monthg LIBOR plus 7 96% at which
point the 1ssuer can exercise a call option to redeem the nominal value of the debt at par value

(n) In September 2022 this Class B bond has a 'Step Up and Call' meaning the interest rate changes to 3 months LIBOR plus 7 97% at
which point the 1ssuer can exercise a call option to redeem the nominal value of the debt at par value

The total carrying value of the fair value adjustment to the debt on acquisition of the Thames Waler Group by Kemble 1s £212 9 million

(2015 £224 0 million) Capitalised debt issuance costs in relation to the debt portfolio are £79 9 million {2015 £79 3 milion) The range ol
interest rates charged on outstanding bank loans and other financing is 0 0% to 11 0% {2015 00% to 11 0%)
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1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Financial assets
Fair value through profit and loss
Options 336 4 2551 761
Cross currency swaps 16.1 22 -
Index-inked swaps 141 143 127
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)
Trade and other recevables 5740 526 8 5270
Short term investments 2895 2771 4890
Cash and cash eguivalents 567.3 5717 4433
Total 1,797 4 1,647 2 1,548 1
Financial habilities*
Fair value through profit and loss
Options (336 4) (255 1) (76 1)
Cross currency swaps {139 0) (2138) (149 6)
Interest rate swaps (22) (88 B) (53 6)
Index-linked swaps (647 5) (711 2) (565 7)
Denvalives designated as hedging instruments
Forward starting interest rate swaps — cash flow hedges {219 4) {154 4) -
Other financial habilities
Trade and other payables (1176 7) (1,228 7) (1,063 0)
Borrowings (12,042 8) {11,366 5) (10,928 0)
Total {14,564 0) (14,018 3) (12,836 0)

Fair value measurements

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities represents the price that would be received to sell an assel or paid to transfer a hability
between informed and willing parties, other than in a forced or Iiquidation sale at the measurement date The techmques for determining the
fair value of financial Instruments are classified under the hierarchy defined in IFRS 13 Farr Value Measurement which categonses inputs to
valuation techmiques inio Levels 1-3 based on the degree to which the fair value 1s observable All of the Group's Inputs to valuation
techniques are Level 2 - the fair value 1s deterrmined from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or hability, either
directly or indirectly The table below sets out the valuation basts of financial instruments held at fair value as at 31 March

1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Financial assets - denvative financial instruments
Options 336 4 2551 761
Cross currency swaps 16 1 22 -
Index-linked swaps 14.1 143 127
Financial habiities - dervative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps (1390} (213 8) (149 6)
Interest rate swaps (22) (88 6) (53 6)
Index-inked swaps (647.5) (711 2) (565 7)
Forward starting interest rate swaps {219 4) (154 4) -
Options (336 4) (255 1) (76 1)
Net total {977 9) {1,151 5) {756 2)
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The fair value of derivative financial instruments, including interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps, index-linked swaps and options, are
measured using discounted cash flows The future cash flows are estimated based on forward interest rates from observable yietd curves
at the pertod end and discounted at a rate that reflects the credt nsk of the Company and the counterparties Currency cash flows are

translated at spot rate

As al 31 March 2018, the Group holds twe offsetting options with equal and opposite values of £336 4 million (2015 £255 1m) n relation to
the £400 0 million Puttable Callable Resettable (“PCR") Bond held in Thames Water Cayman Utilities Finance Limited This value of the
liabiity would be the cost to Thames Water of settling the option in cash and the value of the asset Is the reciprocal value to Thames Water
of, instead, choosing to remarket the original bond for a 40 year period See note 25 {or further detalls

Comparison of fair value of financial instruments with their carrying amounts

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade receivables and trade payables are considered to be approximate to therr fair values The tar
values and carrying values of the Group's other financial assets and financial habilihies are set out in the table below

2016 2015 1 Apnl 2014
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value Book value Farr value
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets
Non-current
Denvative financial instruments
Options 3364 3364 2551 255 1 761 761
Cross currency swaps 161 161 22 22 - -
Index-linked swaps 141 141 143 14 3 127 127
Current
Short term investments 2895 2895 2771 2771 4890 4890
Cash and cash equivalents 567 3 567 3 57117 5717 443 3 443 3
Total 1,223 4 1,223 4 1,120 4 1,120 4 1,021 1 1,021 1
Financial habilities
Non-current
Barrowings
Floating rate (7381) {738 1) (451 6) (451 6) {800 6) {800 6)
Index-linked (3,766 3) (4,337 8) (3,711 9) (4,284 1) (3,579 7) (3,562 8)
Fixed rate (6,501 0) {7,653 4) {6,251 1} (7,430 3) (5,974 4) (6,196 3)
Derivative financial instruments
Cross currency swaps (96 6) (96 6) {213 8) (213 8) (149 6) {149 6)
Interest rate swaps {(22) {(22) (29) (29) (53 6} (53 6)
Index-linked swaps (647 5) (647 5) {711 2) (711 2) (565 7} {565 7)
Forward starting interest rate swaps (219 4) (219 4) (154 4) (154 4) - -
Options (336 4) (336 4) (255 1) (255 1) {76 1) {76 1)
Current
Borrowings
Floating rate (200.0) {200 Q) (542 8} (542 8) (386 2) (386 2)
Index-hnked {200 5) (200 5) - - - -
Fixed rate {396 4) {403.0) (200 0) (202 0) - -
Interest payable (240 5) (240 5) (201 7) {201 7) (187 1) (187 1)
Denvative iinancial instruments
Cross currency swaps {42 4) (42 4) - - - -
Interest rate swaps - - (857) (857) - -
Denvative collateral hability - - {7 4) (7 4} - -
Total {13,387 3} (15,117.8) {12,789 6) {14,543 0} (11,773 0) {11,978 0)
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18.  Financial instruments {continued)

The fair value of floating rate debt instruments 1s assumed to be the norminal value of the primary loan and adjusted for credit nsk i this I1s
signiiicant The fair value of index-inked debt instruments 1s based on the norminal value of the debt plus accretion already accrued and
accretion expected to accrue to matunty

Capital risk management

Details of the Group's capital isk management strategy can be found on page 15

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity as follows

1 Apnil

2016 2015 2014

£m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 567 3 5717 4433

Short-term investments 2895 2771 4890
Secured bank loans (2,489 2) {2,288 2) (2,281 7) ‘
Other financing (9,313 1) {8,869 2) {8,459 2) :

Derivative financial habilities {226 0) (330 9) (318 0)

Net debi (11,471 5) (10,639 5) {10,127 6)

Equity attributable to the owners of the Group 1,498 5 1,001 9 1,146 0

Net debt 1n the table above excludes accrued interest on debt but includes accretion on index-inked debt Denvative financial habilities in
the above table of £226 0 million relates solely to accretion on index-linked swaps and the effect of movement in foreign exchange rate on
Cross CUIrency swaps

Financial risk management

The Group's activiies expose it to a number of financial nsks market nsk (including Interest rate nsk and exchange rate nsk), credt rigk,
hquidity nsk and inftation nisk Details of the nature of each of these risks along with the steps the Group has taken to manage them is
descnbed on page 15

{a) Market risk

Below Is the effective interest rate and foreign currency nsk profile of the debt held by the Group after taking into account the denvative
financial instruments used to manage market nsk

Total at fixed rates Total at fioating rates Total at index inked rates Total
As at 31 March 2016 £m £m £m £m
Interest hearing loans and borrowings
Net of corresponding swap assels
- £ Sterling 5,752 3 903 1 5,168 4 11,8238
Total 5,752 3 903.1 5,168.4 11,823 8
Total at fixed rates Total at floating rates Total at index finked rates Total
As at 31 March 2015 £m £m £m £m
Interest bearing loans and borrowings ‘
Net of corresponding swap assets ‘
- ESterling 53757 979 4 51414 11,4965 i
|
Total 53757 9794 5,141 4 11,496 5
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18. Financial instruments (continued)

Total at fixed rates Total at floating rates ~ Total at index linked rates Total
As at1 Apnl 2014 £m £m £m £m
Interest beanng loans and borrowings
Net of corresponding swap assets
- ESterling 4,872 0 8781 5,307 1 11,057 2
Total 4,8720 878 1 5,307 1 11,057 2

The weighted average interest rates of the debt held by the Company and the penod until matunty for which the rate 1s fixed at fixed rate
and index linked debt are given below
Weighted average period until maturily for

Waeighted average interest rate for fixed which rate 1s fixed for hixed rate and index
rate and index linked debt linked debt
2016 2015 1 Apnl 2014 2016 2015 1 Apni 2014
% %o % Years Years Years

Interest beanng loans and borrowings
Net of corresponding swap assets
- £ Sterling 34% 3 8% 39% 165 169 202
Total 3 4% 3 8% 39% 16 5 169 202

(1} Interest rate nsk sensitivity analysis

The table below summarises the impact, on pre-tax profits, of 1% increase or decrease in interest rate at 31 March 2016 This analysis
considers effect of vanable interest rate instruments and assurmes that all other vanables, 1n parhicular exchange rates, remain constant

2016
+1% 1%
£m £m
Profit 2517 (319 5)
Equity 385.5 (464 5)

{n) Exchange rate nsk sensitvity analysis

The table below summanses the impact of changes in the year end valuations of financial assets and habiliies denominated in foreign
currency on pre-tax profits of a 10% strengthening or weakening of GBP (£) against the respective currencies in which the financial assets
and liabilities are denominated at 31 March 2016 This analysis assumes that all other vanables in the valuation remain constant

2016
+10% -10%
£m £m
Profit (22 2) 196
Equity {22 2) 196

(m} Inflation nsk sensitivity analysis

The table below summarises the impact on pre-tax profits of a 1% increase or decrease In inflation rates at 31 March 2016 This analysis
assumes that all other vanables, in particular exchange rates, remain constant

2016
+1% 1%
£m £m
Profi {725.2) 605 4
Equity (725 2) 605 4
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(b) Credit nisk

The Group’s maximum exposure lo credit nsk 1s the carrying amount of financrat assets recorded in the financial statements, which 15 net of
impairment losses, tess collateral cash held under the terms of the whole business securtisation agreement explained on page 34

At 31 March 2016 the Group held £nil (2015 £7 4 million) of collateral cash, representing amounts due from counterparties to the Group's
dervative contracts thal have falled to meet mimimum short term credit rating critena assigned by Moody's

Following table summarises amounts held on short term investments by credit rating of counterparties

1 Apni!
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
AA- 170 760 600
A+ 600 1617 1990
A 2125 394 2300
Total 2895 277 1 4890
Following table summarises fair value of denvatives assets by credit rating of counterparties
1 April
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
A+ 2.0 150 127
A 184 4 126 5 -
A- - 128 6 761
AA- 107 15 -
BBB+ 1695 - -
Total 366 6 2716 88 8
(c)Liquidity risk
Details of the nature and management of the Group’s liquidity nsk 1s provided on page 16
The maturity profile of interest bearing loans and borrowings disclosed in the statement of financial position are given below
2016
£m
Within one year 796.9
Between one and two years 1500
Between two and three years 203 1
Between three and four years 854 6
Between four and five years 6131
After more than five years 9,184 6
Total 11,802 3
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18. Financial instruments (continued)
() Cash flows from non-derivative financial habihties
The maturity profile of the anticipated future cash flows including interest in relation to the Group's non-dervative financial lrabilities on an

undiscounted basis, which, therefore, differs from both the carrying value disclosed in the statement of financial position and fair values, 13
as lollows

2016
Undiscounted amounts payable £m
Within one year (2,096 6)
Between one and two years (603 6)
Between two and three years (677 5)
Between three and four years (1,378 0)
Between four and five years (1,038 8)
After more than five years {21,268.3)
Total (27,062 8)

{0} Cash flows from denvative financtal instruments

The matunty profile of the Group's financial denvatives (which include interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps), based on
undiscounted cash flows, I1s as follows

2016
Undiscounted amounts payable £m
Within one year (7 4)
Between one and two years (31 4)
Between two and three years 152
Between three and four years {16 4)
Between four and five years 142
After more than five years (1,188 1)
Total (1,213 9)

Cash flow hedges

The Group has designated a number of contracts which qualify as hedges in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments recognition and
Measurement, as cash flow hedges The accounting peolicy on cash flow hedges 1s explained on page 37

In mid-2014 the Group executed £2 25bn of forward-starting pay fixed! received fioating interest rate swaps of a 5-7 year matunty with
vanous financial institutions to fix the future interest costs of an element of the new debt 1ssued in March 2016 This protects the Group
against adverse movements in underying interest rates by matching debt 1Issuance aganst a derivative instrument with hixed cash flow The
expected cash flows of the Group's cash flow hedges are as follows

2016
Undiscounted amounts payable Em
Interest rate swaps
Wilthin one year (22)
Between one and two years (128)
Between two and three years (20 2)
Between three and four years (25 4)
Between four and five years (271)
After more than five years (66 9)
Total (154 6)

In respect of the above cash flow hedges, a loss of £65 0 million was recognised in other comprehensive income in the year (2015 loss of
£154 4m) The amount reclassified from equity to profit or loss for the year was £nil (2015 £nl)
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An analysis of movements in the major deferred tax habiliies and assets recognised by the Group 1s set out below

Accelerated tax Retirement benefit Cash flow
depreciation obligations hedge Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2014 (1,387 4) 48 3 818 771 {1,180 2)
Credit/{charge) to income 754 (4 0) 386 (73) 1027
Credit to equity - 254 308 - 56 2
At 31 March 2015 (1,3120) 697 1512 898 (1,021 3)
Credit/{charge) to iIncome 1075 68 (21 0) (13 5) 798
Credit to equity - {30 8) 87 - (22 1}
Al 31 March 2016 {1,204 5) 457 1389 563 {963 6)
Delerred tax assels and liabilities have been ofiset The offset amounts, which are to be recovered/settled after more than 12 months are
as follows
2016 2015
£m £m
Deferred tax asset 2409 2907
Deferred tax hability (1,204 5) {1,312 0}
Total {963 6) {1,021 3)

There 1s an unrecognised deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses where the Group does not anticipate taxable profits in the immediate
future The amount of deferred tax asset not recogrused at 18% (2015 20%) 15

2016 2015
£m £m
Deferred tax asset not recognised in respect of tax losses 64 723
20. Provisions for liabilities and charges
Emissions Insured Restructunng AMP4 Other
provision ilabities provision provision pProvisions Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 2014 - 573 06 85 335 9% 9
Utihsed dunng the year (8 0} (193) {0 6) (08) (9 6) {38 3)
Charge to income statement 80 77 123 - 111 391
At 31 March 2015 - 457 123 77 350 1007
Utiised during the penod - - (63) (14) (18) (95)
Charge/(credit) to income statement 70 03) (5 4) - 99 12
Transfer to current habilities - - - (2 4) - (2 4)
At 31 March 2016 70 454 06 39 43 1 1000

Emissions provisions relate to the obligation to purchase carbon emissions allowances, see note 13

The nsured liability proviston Is 1n respect of insurance claims notified A receivable in respect of these obligations has been included in
note 14 representing the reimbursement value from captive and third party insurance companies net of retentions

The restructuring provision principally relates to severance costs and onerous lease provisions recogmsed as a result of the Group's
restructunng and recrganisation The outflows associated with the restructuring provision are expected to anse within the next 12 months
however the imings of those associated wath an onerous lease provisions are uncertain and therelore amounts provided have been
classifted as non-current
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20. Provisions for liabilities and charges (continued)

The AMP4 provision represents agreed settlement in respect of an information request received from Ofwat 1ssued under section 203 of
the Water Industry Act 1991 concerning the properties claimed as saleguarded from internal sewer flooding by capital schemes completed
in 2009/10 The prowision 15 ublised against contributions made to vanous charity schemes The associated outflows are expected to anse
over AMP6

Other provisions principally relate to a number of legal claims against the Group and represents management’s best estimate of the value
of settlement and costs Timing of settlement for these claims 1s uncertain and therefore amounts provided have been classified as non-
current

21. Share capital and other reserves

Share capital

1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Allotted, called up and fully pard
1,991,600,000 ordinary shares of £1 each 1,991 6 1,991 6 1,991 6

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no nght to fixed income The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company

Other reserves

1 Apnil

2016 2015 2014

£m £m £m

Cash flow hedge reserve (179.9) (123 6) -
Retained earnings (313.2) {866 1) {845 6)
Total (493.1) (989 7) (845 6)

The cash fiow hedge reserve compnses the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the far value of cash flow hedging
instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred

22. Dividends

1 Apnil

2016 2015 2014

£m £m £m

Intenm dividend paid {2016 Op per share, 2015 3 17p per share) - 631 45 1

Of the total intenm divadend payments declared in the year ended 31 March 2015 of £63 1 million, £1 5 milion was paid in Apnt 2015
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23. Retirement benefit obligations
Background
The Group operates four matenal pension schemes, one of which 1s a defined contnbution scheme and the other three are defined benefit

In addition to the cost of the UK Pension arrangements, the Group operates arrangements under which it augments benefits on retirement
In certain cases of redundancy These augmentations are funded by way of additional employer contnibutions to the schemes In the year
to 31 March 2016 these related payments amounted to £2 2 million (2015 £0 3m)

The defined contribution scheme was set up in April 2011, managed through Standard Life, and i1s open to all new employees of the Group
The pension charge for the period represents contribulions payable by the Group to the scheme and amounted to £5 2 million (2015 £4 3
milien) These were paid in the following financial year in line with the scheme rules Defined benefit arrangements for the Group's ehgible
employees are provided through three defined benefit Group pension schemes

+ Thames Water Pension Scheme {“TWPS"),
e  Thames Water Mirror Image Pension Scheme (“TWMIPS”), and
» The SUURBS Arrangement (“SUURBS")

The assets of all three schemes are held separately from the rest of the Group in independently administered funds in the United Kingdom
The Trustees of these schemes are required to act in the best interest of the scheme beneficianes

The SUURBS Arrangement provides retirement benefits to a previous director, and therr spouse, of Thames Water Limited, a subsidhary
entity in the Group The scheme 1s an unfunded arrangement but 1s secured against assets held by Thames Water Limited The latest full
valuation was carried out at 31 March 2013 on behalf of the pension Trustees by Mercer Limited, the independent and professionally
qualified consulting actuaries to the scheme

Both the TWPS and TWMIPS schemes represent career average pension schemes On 1 April 2011 the defined benefit arrangements
were closed to new entrants and replaced with a defined contnbution scheme The most recent full actuanal valuation was at 31 December
2013 on behalf of the Trustees by AON Hewitt Limited, the independent and professionally qualified consulting actuary to the schemes

For all three schemes the 2013 valuations were updated to 31 March 2016 by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent and
professionally qualified consulting actuary, using revised assumptions that are consistent with the requirements of 1AS 18R Employee

Benefits and shown n this note to the financial statements The Group expects to contribute approximately £35 3 million th aggregate to
the defined benefit pension schemes in the next financial year

Amounts included in statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension schemes

The net pension habiity recogrised within the statement of financial position 15 as follows

2016 2015

TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Equities 4301 146 4 - 4350 1601 -
Corporate bonds 745 68 7 - 735 708 -
LDI portfolio 5718 4880 - - - -
Fixed interest government bonds - - - 999 2041 -
Index linked government bonds - - 112 4525 2877 113
Property 625 466 - 62 1 46 3 -
Cash 39 35 20 232 49 18
Fair value of scheme assets 1,142 8 753 2 132 1,146 2 7739 131
Present value of defined henefil obligations (1,385 1) (694 8) {7 1) {1,478 8) {748 8) (74)
(Deficity/surplus (242 3) 58 4 61 (332 6) 251 57
Eftect of asset hmit - (76 1) - - (46 4) -
Retirement benefit surplus/{obhigations) (242 3) (17 7) 61 (332 6) (21 3) 57

The Directors have reviewed the scheme rules of the defined benefit pension schemes and have concluded that, for the TWMIPS scheme,
as the Company does not have an unconditional right to & refund of any surplus, including as a deduchon to future contnbutions payable,
the prowisions of IFRIC 14 IAS 19 - The hmut on a Defined Benefit Asset, Mmimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction apply
Consequently the surplus for this scheme has been restncted with an obligation recogmised for the present value of deficit funding
contnbutions payable to the scheme
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2016 2015
TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 Apnl 1,146 2 7739 131 976 8 7094 124
Interest income on scheme assets 379 242 04 44 3 301 04
Contributions by sponsonng employers 121 23 03 B2 77 03
Contnbuticns from scheme members 01 - - 01 - -
Admimistration costs paid from scheme assets (25) (14) - (42) {15) -
Benefits paid (40 4) (37 7) (03) (37 2) (387) (0 3)
Contributions for termination benefits 14 09 - 03 - -
Gains/(losses) on assets above interest {12 0) (9 0) (03) 1309 669 03
At 31 March 1,142.8 753 2 132 1,146 2 7739 131
The movement n the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows
2016 2015
TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS
£m £m £m £m £m £m
At1 Apnl 1,478 8 7488 74 1,202 0 657 7 69
Current service cost 149 32 - 126 31 -
Past service cost - - - - - -
Interest cost 491 234 02 547 278 03
Contributions from scheme members 01 - - 01 - -
Benefits paid (40 4) (377) {0 3} {37 2} (38 7) (0 3)
Termination benehts 14 09 - 03 - -
Curtalment - - - - (100) -
Actuanal (gains)/losses (118 8) {43.8) {0 2) 2463 108 9 05
At 31 March 1,385 1 694 8 71 1,478 8 748 8 74

The one-off non-cash curtallment gain of £10 Om in 2015 arose as a result of the calculation of members' benefits in Mirror iImage Pension

Scheme changing from final salary to Career Average Revalued Earmings (*CARE")

Amounts recognised in the iIncome statement in respect of defined benefit pension schemes

2016 2015
TWPS TWMIPS SUURES TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS
£m £m £m £rn £m £m
Curtailment gain - - - - (10 0) -
Current service cost 149 3z - 126 31 -
Scheme administration expenses 25 14 - 42 15 -
Effect of restnction of surplus - 15 - - ai -
Net interest cost 112 {0 8) {0 2) 104 {2 2) {0 1)
Total 286 53 (0 2) 272 (4 5) (0 1)
The net expense s recognised In the following captions within the income statement
2016 2015
TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS
£m £m £Em £m £m £m
Operating expenses 174 61 - 168 (2 3) -
Finance expenses 112 (0 8) 0 2) 104 (22} {0 1}
Total 286 53 {0 2} 272 {4 5) {0 1)

61



Kemble Water Holdings Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2016
Notes to the group financial statements

23. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Actuanal gains and losses have been recognised within other comprehensive income An analysis of the amount presented i1s sel out

below
2016 2015
£m £m
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets (21 4) 198 1
Experience gain/(foss} ansing on scheme liabiliies 397 (57 6)
Gan/(loss} ansing due to change 1n assumptions 1231 {298 0)
Change in asset celling {28 2) 304
Totat 113 2 (127 1)
Cumulative actuanal losses recognised {406 3) (519 5)

Actuarial risk factors
The schemes are exposed to actuanal nsks including investment nsk, inflation nsk and longewity risk

Investment nsk anses because the Group’s contributions to the schemes are based on expecied returns from scheme assets based on
actuanal assumptions If these assels underperform a deficit will be created against the scheme liabiliies

The benefits payable to the members of the schemes are linked to inflation and as such higher inflation wll lead to higher labilities The
Group’s contributions to the schemes are based on assumptions about the future levels of inflation Therefore an increase in nflation
above that assumed in the actuanal calculations will create a deficit

The schemes' obligations are dependent on the assumptions about the ife expectancy of the members after retirement ¥ scheme
members live longer than assumed in the actuanal caleulations, a deficit will be created

Actuarial assumptions

The main financial assumptions used in the valuation of these schemes are as follows

2016 2015
TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS
Price inflation — RPI 3 05% 295% 295% 305% 2 95% 295%
Price inflation — CPI 2 05% 195% 195% 2 05% 195% 195%
Rate of increase to penstons in payment — RPI 305% 295% 295% 305% 2 95% 295%
Rate of increase to pensions 1n payment — CPI 205% 195% N/A 205% 1 95% N/A
Discount rate 365% 3 50% 350% 335% 320% 3 20%

Both the TWPS and TWMIPS schemes provide benefits on a Career Average (“CARE”") benefit structure whereby past entilements are
linked to movements in CPI therefore an assumption for increase in salary 15 not required

In valuing the habilities of the pension schemes at 31 March 2016, mortality assumptions have been made as indicated below, however in
respect of the SUURBS Arrangement as mortality assumptions have been made regarding the schemes only member and their spouse
they have not been disclosed These mortality assumplions are based on standard mortalty tables and the recent actual mortality
expenence of members within the schemes The assumptions also allow for future improvements to mortality rates

2016 2015

TWPS TWMIPS TWPS TWMIPS

Years Years Years Years
Life expectancy from age 60
Male 283 273 283 273
Female 297 207 297 297
Life expectancy from age 60 currently age 40
Male 304 304 304 293
Fernale 318 31.8 318 318
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The sensitivity of the present value of scheme habilities to changes in the principle assumphions used 15 set out below

2016 2015

TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS TWPS TWMIPS SUURBS

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Change in discount rate {(+ 1% p a) (260 0) (100 0) (0 8) {285 0) (95 0) {(09)
Change n rate of inflation (-1% p a) (220 0) {60 0) {08) (250 0) (95 Q) (09)
Change n life expectancy (-1 year) {40 0) (20 0) (0 3) {45 0} (22 0) {0 3)

24. Capital commitments

1 Apnl

2016 2015 2014

£m £m £m

Contracted for but not provided 489 9 3257 547 6

In addition to these commitments, the Group has long-term capital investment plans, under its business plan submitted to Ofwat, to provide
for future growth and maintenance of the infrastructure network

25. Contingent liabilities

There are claims arsing in the normal course of business, which are In the process of negobation The Group has set aside amounts
considered appropnate for all legal and similar ¢claims

In April 2018 If interest rates are below a certain level a bond with par value of £400 0 million (see note 18) will either be remarketed for the
remaining 40 year penod or the Group will settle the related derivative contract (low stnke call option} and the bond will be redeemed at
par If the Group decided to settle the denvative at this date, it would result in a cash outflow which reflects the fair value of the denvative at
that date As at 31 March 2016 the fair value of the denvative I1s £336 4 million (2015 £255 1m} The Group expects that should it wish to
take the opportunity it will be able to successiully remarket the bonds at fair value and a cash settlement will not be required

A debt under section 75 of the Pensions Act 1995 has arsen tn respect of the TWMIPS pension scheme as a result of a tngger event in
2007 Information continues to be gathered, however mitial conclusions drawn by Aon Hewit! Limited, actuaral adwisers to the TWMIPS
trustees, estimate the debt to be between £1 0 million and £2 0 million

26. Operating leases

Lease payments under operating leases of £10 9 million {2015 £7 6 million) were recognised as an expense in the year At the balance
sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, which
fall due as follows

2016 20156

£m £m

Within one year 68 70
Between two and five years 27.2 268
After more than five years 66 7 732
Total 1007 107 0

Operaling lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain office properties, plant and equipment, and the vehicle fleet

27. Off-balance sheet arrangements

The Group 1s party to a number of contractual arrangements for the purposes of its principal activities that are not required to be included
within the statement of financial posiion These are operating leases, outsourcing contracts and guarantees

In respect of outsourcing conltracts, the Group has entered into various arrangements to outseurce the provision of certan back-office and
operational functions with third party providers These outsourced arrangements include aspects of IT support, legal services, supply chain,
metering and capital delivery These arrangements are on commercial terms and no associated penalty or termination clauses will have a
maltenal effect on the financial position of the Group
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28. Guarantees

Thames Water Utiliies Holdings Limited, Thames Water Utiities Limited and its direct subsidianes are Obligors under the whole business
secuntisation antered into 1 2007 The Obligors have ali entered into a Secunty Trust and Inter-creditor Deed Under this document each
Obligor will guarantee the obligations of each other Obligor with their luture cash flows The guaranteed debt at 31 March 2016 was
£10 7bn (2015 £10 2bn)

At 31 March 2016 the Group has secured the overdrafts and leans of ceflain subsidiaries up to a maximum of £20 0 miflion (2015
£20 0m) The Group has also guaranteed facilities for contract bonding on behalf of certan subsidianies amounting to £0 8 mithon (2015
£0 8m) at 31 March 2016

The Group has provided secunty by way of a debenture over s assels in relation to monies owed by the Group under its credit faciity
agreement with RBS as Facility Agent This facility amounted to £525 millon (2015 £4256m), the amount outstanding at 31 March 2016
was £340 million (2015 £350m)} The chargee 1s RBS as Facility Agent The Company has alse entered into an inter-creditor agreement
guaranteeing the obhgations of its subsidiary, Thames Water Kemble Finance Plc under its £1bn debt 1ssuance programme The
guaranteed debt outstanding at 31 March 2016 1s £675m (2015 £400m)

Thames Water Insurance Company Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, has letters of credit in 1ssue totaling £3 9 million
(2015 £3 9m) The letters of credit will be further reduced to £0 75m n August 2016

In addition there are a number of parent company guarantees in respect of subsidiary company contractual obligations that have been
entered into In the normal course of business No un-provided loss i1s expected to anse under these arrangements

29, Statement of cash flows

Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows

2016 2015

fm £m

Profit for the financial year 4705 144 3
Less finance income (107 5) (119 4)
Add finance expense 4590 4859
(Less profit)/add less on fair value of financial instruments (22 7) 2469
Less taxation credit on profit on ordinary activities (85 89) (105 3}
Operating profit 713.4 652 4
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 479 4 476 4
Amortisation of intangible assets 18.6 225
Profit on sale of property, ptant and equipment (48.5) (16 4)
Difference between pension charge and cash contribution 8.8 28 7)
Increase in inventory (12 0 (39)
Increase 1n trade and other recevables (6 0) (46)
Increase In trade and other payables 165 107 0
(Decrease)fincrease in provisions {0 6} o8
Cash generated from operations 1,169.6 1,205 5

Non-cash transactions

No additions to property, plant and equipment dunng the year, or the immediately preceding year, were financed through new finance
leases Assets transferred from developers and customers for nil consideration were recogmised at their far value
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30. Related party transactions

Kemble Walter Holdings Linuted 1s owned by a consortium of investors led by Macquane European Infrastructure Fund Il LP {"MEIF 2),
wholesale investment funds which make long-term Investments in infrastructure and related businesses located across Eurcpe The
Directors do not consider there to be an ultimate parent or controling party The Company’s other shareholders are international pension
funds and institutional investors

MEIF 2 invest in businesses which

+  Provide an essential service to the community,
« Have a strong competitive position, and
« Generate stable cash flows over the long term

MEIF 2 aims to deliver sustainable cash yields and moderate capital growth from their diversihed portfolios of quality infrastructure
investments MEIF 2 1s managed by Macquane Infrastructure and Real Assets (Europe) Limited ("MIRAEL") MIRAEL s a wholly owned
member of the Macquarie Group, and 1s authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authonty MIRAEL 1s resourced by executives
of Macquane Infrastructure and Real Assets

Trading transactions

Transactions between subsidiaries within the Group, which are refated parties, have been elimnated on consolidation and are not included
in this note The following transactions took place dunng the year betwaen the Group and 1ts related parties

2016 2015
Services Services Services Services
provided by providedto  provided by provided to
£m £m £m £m
Transactions with external entities 16 6 - 54 -
Qutstanding balances
The following amounts were outstanding at the balance sheet date
2016 2015
Amounts Amounts Amounts Amounts
owedto owed from owed to owed from
£m £m £m £m
Balances with external entities 50 - - -

The related parties are the subsidianies and associates of the Company along with key management personne! The amounts outstanding
are unsecured and will be settled 10 cash Prowisions have been made for doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties

Key management personnel
Key management personnel comprise the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee of the Group’s princpal trading

subsichary Thames Water Utlities Limited dunng the year Information regarding transactions with past-employment benefits plans is
included in note 23

2016 2015

£'000 £000

Short term employee beneiits 3,363 3,341
Post-employment benefits 475 477
Other long-term benefits 2,519 3,085
Termination benefits 321 -
Other 135 138
Total 6,813 7,041
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31. Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

This 1s the first time that the Group and Gompany has presented its annual financial statements under IFRS The policies applied in these
financial statements are based on the IFRS, IAS and IFRIC interpretations 1ssued and effective and ratfied by the European Union as of 9
June 2016, the date that the Board of Direclors approved the statements The Group and Company's previously reported results for the
year ended 31 March 2015 have been restated, the effective date of transition to {FRS bemng 1 Apni 2014

In accordance with IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of international Financial Reporting Standards the Company’s accounting policies under
IFRS have been applied retrospectively at the date of transition, with the exception of a number of permitted exemptions The key areas
affected by the implementation of IFRS, including permitied exemptions taken, have been summansed below

Infrastructure accounting

Under UK GAAP the Group's water and wastewater infrastructure assets were accounted for in accordance with the renewals accounting
provisions of FRS15 Tangible Fixed Assets Under this the waler and wastewater infrastructure networks were assumed to be single
assels and the depreciation charged was the estmated level of annual expenditure required to maintain the operating capacity of the
networks Actual expenditure was capitalised as incurred

Additionally caprtal contnbutions received in respect of the infrastructure assets were deducted from the cost as under UK GAAP these
assets did not have a determinable finite life

Under IAS16 Property, Plant and Equipment this treatment may not be applied Therefore, the significant parts within the infrastructure
networks have been dentified, useful ives and residual values have been determmned so that each component may be depreciated
indwidually

As the UK GAAP net book value of the infrastructure networks was determined using an accounting policy not in comphiance with IFRS, as
permitted by IFRS 1, a deemed cost for these assets has been established for the opening statement of financial position by reference te
the fair value as at 1 Apnl 2014, being the date of transition

The election to record the carrying value of the water and wastewater infrastructure networks at fair value, and to use that far value as the
deemed cost in the opeming statement of financial position, has increased net assets by £109 8 million as at 31 March 2015 compared to
UK GAAP This fair value uplft has been componentised In the same proporttons as the network assets on the transition date, and
depreciation on this uphft has resulted in a charge to the income statement of £38 4 miliion in the year to 31 March 2015

The segments recognised within the waler and wastewater networks have been based on asset class since no single pipe or section of
sewer 1s signiicant compared with the tolal value of the networks This has led to the identification of ten segments which have been
assigned no residual value at the end of thetr useful economic lives The lives allocated to these segments range from 7 to 250 years
Depreciation on these assets has resulted in a charge to the income statement of £81 @ million 1n the year to 31 March 2015 Due to the
disapplication of renewals accounting amounts previously charged through the income statement as the Infrastructure Renewals Charge
have been reversed and the net effect as a result of these adjustments I1s a credit to the income statement in the year to 31 March 2015 of
£165 2 milhon

In accordance with IAS 16, on transition to IFRS the classification between operating expenditure and capital expenditure for amounts
incurred In mamtaining the networks has been reassessed As a result in the year to 31 March 2015 assets with a book value of £95 6m,
which were capitalised under UK GAAP 1n accordance with renewals accounting, were considered to represent repairs and maintenance
expenditure under IFRS Consequently these assets have been de-recognised, resulting in a charge to the income statement

Under IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers, all customer and developer contributions previously deducted from the cost of
assoclated network assets under UK GAAP have been reclassified to deferred income These will be released as other operating income in
the income statement as the associated performance obligations are fulfilled Service connection charges made 1n accordance with
sections 45 and 107 of the Water Industry Act 1991 are immediately recogmised n the income statement as no continuing obligation exists
once a connection to the network has been made The net effect of these adjustments s a credit to the income statement of £55 4 million
In the year to 31 March 2015

Borrowing Costs
Under UK GAAP the Group did not capitalise borrowing costs directly attnbutable in the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assels Under IFRS, IAS 23 Borrowing Costs requires such costs to be capitalised As permitted by IFRS 1 the Group has elected to apply

this requirement prospectively from the transibion date of 1 Apnl 2014, which has resulted in an increase to the net assets at 31 March 2015
of £86 4 million
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31. Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Defined henefit pension schemes

IFRIC 14 The Limit on a Defined Benelit Asset, Mimmum Funding Requirements and thewr Interaction introduces addibional considerations
to the measurement of a defined benefit obligation whereby a surplus may be restncted to the present value of any economic benefits
available to the Group in the form of either a refund or a reduction in future coninbutions payable This has resulted in a restaction of the
surplus recognised under UK GAAP to the Thames Water Mirror Image Pension Scheme and an additional hability of £46 4 million at 31
March 2015 This additional liability, alongside the associated deferred tax effect, has been recognised within equity as part of other
comprehensive income

Additionally the scheme adrminustration expenses are recognised within operaling expenses under IAS 19 Employee Benefits, rather than
through net finance costs This has resulted in a reduction to operating profit of £8 8 million for the year ended 31 March 2015

Transfer of assets from customers

The Group receives transfers of assets from customers and developers, mainly in the lorm of adopled and self-lay sewers and water
assets The Group assesses whether each transferred tem meets the definition of an asset, and if so, recognises the transferred asset as
propenrty, plant and equipment

Under UK GAAP these assets were recognised by the Group at nil value Under IFRS, IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers,
requires the cost to be measured at fair value with the associated credit being recogrised within deterred income In recognition that the
adopted asset results in a continued obligation to mantan the adopted assets This has resulted n the recognition of £7 9 mullion within
deferred income as at 31 March 2015, which will be released over the useful economic Iife of the adopted asset

Financial instruments

Under UK GAAP debt 1s imtially recorded at the net proceeds of issue In subsequent penods this Is adjusted for accrued hinance costs and
payments made The fair values of dervatives are not recognised In the balance sheet and consequently the charges to the income
statement are relatively stable

Under IAS 39 Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement, the default treatment 1s for debt to be carried at amortised cost whilst
denvatives are recognised separately in the statement of financial position at far value, with the movements on that far value being
recogrised through the income statement

This has the potential to introduce volatiity to both the income statement and statement of financial pesition Therefore In the case of cash
flow hedges movements in the far value of dervatives are deferred within reserves until they can be recycled through the income
statement to offset the fulure income statement effect of changes in hedged risk

Howaver In order to apply this treatment, 1t must be demonstrated that the dervative has been and will continue to be an effective hedge of
the hedged nsk within the debt item Any hedge ineffectiveness, provided it 1s within the range deemed acceptable by 1AS 38, 1s recognised
immediately within the income statement Changes n fair value for derivatives that are designated and effective in terms of cash flow
hedging relationships are deferred in equity as part of other comprehensive Income As a result of applying IAS 39 the Group has
recogrused dervatives at fair value which has resulted in a decrease to the net assets of £1,151 5 millien as at 31 March 2015

Explanation of material adjustments to the statement of cash flows
Cash flows under IFRS include those in respect of cash and cash equivalents An adjustment was made to include cash flows in respect of

short term deposits that meet the definition of cash equivalents Cash flows ansing from corporation taxes were reclassified as cash flows
from operating actvities as It 1s not pessible to identify elements associated with financing and investing activities
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31. Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Reconciliation of equity as at 1 Apnl 2014

UK GAAP Reclassification Transition IFRS
£m £m £m £m
Non-current assels.
Intangible assets 1,4687 (1,403 3) - 654
Goodwill - 1,468 1 - 1,468.1
Property, plant and equipment 11,768 7 (63 8) 7109 12,4158
Derivaive financial assets - 100 788 838
Retrement benefit surplus - 55 - 55
13,2374 165 7897 14,043 6
Current assets.
Inventones 91 {13) 17 61
Assets held for sale - 03 - 03
Trade and other recewvables 5734 (89) (37 5) 5270
Short-term investments 492 (430 2) - 489 0
Cash and cash eguivalents 156 4302 (25) 443 3
1,517 3 (99) (417} 1,465 7
Current habihities*
Trade and other payables (1,710 5) 9436 158 (751 1)
Borrowings - (582 6) 96 (573 Q)
(1,710 5) 3610 254 (1,324 1)
Net current {Llabilities)/assets (193 2) 3511 (16 3) 1416
Non-current habiiities:
Trade and other payables {10,486 4) 10,3221 (147 6) (311 9)
Borrowtngs - (10,532 4) 177 4 (10,355 0)
Denvative financial iabilites - {151 8) (693 2) {845 0}
Detferred tax hability - (786 5) {393 7) (1,180 2)
Provisions for habilities and charges (938 1) 834 8 34 (99 9)
Retirement benefif obligations {150 5} (53 8) (42 9) (247 2)
(11,575 0) (367 6) (1,096 6) {13,039 2)
Net assets 1,469 2 - (323 2) 1,146 0
Equity
Share capital 1,991 6 - - 1,991 6
Other reserves . - - -
Retained earnings (522 4) - (323 2) {845 6)
Total equity 1,469 2 - (323 2) 1,146 0
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31. Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)

Reconciliation of equity as at 31 March 2015

UK GAAP Reclassification Transition IFRS
£m £m £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 1,4237 (1,410 8) 448 877
Goodwill - 1,468 1 - 1,468 1
Property, plant and equipment 12,552 2 (56 8) 8119 13,307 3
Retirement benefit surplus - 57 - 57
Denvative financial assets - - 2716 271.6
13,9759 62 1,128 3 15,1104
Current assets.
Inventones 83 29 {13) 99
Assets held for sale - 02 - 02
Trade and other receivables 5563 21 (27 4) 526 8
Short-term investments 8245 (547 4) - 2771
Cash and cash equivalents 268 547 4 (2 5) 5717
1,4159 10 (312) 13857
Current habilities.
Trade and other payables (1,904 9) 1,033 9 (22 5) (893 5)
Dernivative financial liabilities - - (85 7) 857)
Borrowings - (958 4) 65 {951.9)
{1,904 9) 755 (1017) (1,931 1)
Net current habilibies (489 ) 7656 (132 9) (545 4)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables (10,850 4) 10,669 1 {153 9) (335 2)
Borrowings - (10,746 1) 3315 (10,414 6)
Denvative financial batilities - - (1,337 4) (1,337 4)
Deferred tax liability - (708 5) (312 8) (1,021 3)
Provisions for habilties and charges (873 7) 7697 33 {100 7}
Retirement benefit obhgations (244 8) {66 9) {42 1) (353 9)
{11,969 0) (82 7) {1,511 4) (13,563 1)
Net assets 1,517 9 - {516 0) 1,001 9
Equity.
Share capital 1,991 6 - - 1,991 6
Other reserves - - (123 8) {123 6}
Retained earnings {473 7) - (392 4) (866 1)
Total equity 1,517 9 - (516 0) 1,001 9
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Reconciliation of total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2015

UK GAAP Reclassification Transition IFRS
£m £m £m £m

Revenue 20327 {30 5) - 2,002 2
Operating expenses (1,4227) a3 {19 8) (1,433 2)
Profit on the sale of property, plant and equipment 169 - (0 5) 164
OCther operating income 68 124 478 670
Operating profit 6337 (88) 275 652 4
Finance income 62 4 570 - 1194
Finance expense {526 Q) (44 2) 843 {485 9)
Net losses on financial iInstruments - {4 4) (242 5} {246 9)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1701 (0 4) (130 7) 390
Taxation on profit on ordinary aclivities 615 02 436 105 3
Profit for the financial period 2316 (0 2) (87 1) 144 3
Other comprehensive income/{expense)
ftems that will not be reclassified to the income statement
Net actuarnal loss on defined benefit pension schemes (149 5) - 224 (127 1}
Deferred tax on net actuarial loss 299 - (45) 254
Exchange adjustments (02) 02 - -
ftemns that may be reclassified to the income statement
Loss en cash flow hedges - - (154 4) (154 4)
Deferred tax on loss on cash flow hedges - - 308 30.8
Other comprehensive expense for the period/year {119 8} 02 (105 7) {225 3)
Total comprehensive income for the period/year 1118 - (192 8) (81 0)
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1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Cost of shares in subsidiary undertakings 10 10 10
Provision for impairment - - -
Net book value 10 10 10
A full listing of direct and indirect subsidiary and associated undertakings has been included in note 38 to these financial statements
33. Intercompany loans receivable
1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
£m fm £m
Intercompany loans receivable
Due from Kemble Water Eurchond Ple 1,990 6 1,990 6 1,990 6
Interest on intercompany loans receivable
Due from Kemble Water Eurcbond Plc 1,687 9 1,352 7 1,106 1
Total 3,678 5 3,343 3 3,096 7

The loan due from Kemble Water Eurobond Plc, the Company's immediate subsidiary entity, 1s unsecured, repayable on demand and

charges interest at 10%

34. Trade and other payables

1 April

2016 2015 2014

£m £m £m

Accruals and deferred income - 15 -
Amounts payable in respect of group relhef 1327 657 07
Total 1327 67 2 07

All amounts owed to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand
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35. Financial instruments

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the crnitena for recognition, the basis of measurement and the
basis for recogmtion of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial hability and equity instrument are disclosed in the
accounting policies The Company does not hold any dernvative financial assets or habihties (2015 none)

Categories of financial instruments

The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities are as follows

1 Apnl
2016 2015 2014
£m £m £m
Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)
Intercompany loans receivable 3,6785 3,343 3 3,006 7
Cash and cash eguivalents - 15 -
Total 36785 3,344 8 3,096 7
Financial habilities
Other financial abilities
Trade and other payables (1327) {67 2) (07)
Total (1327) (67 2) {0 7)

Fair value measurements

The fair value of financial assets and habilities represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid te transfer a hability
between informed and willing parties, other than in a forced or hguidation sale at the measurement date The techniques for determining the
fair value of financial mstruments are classifted under the hierarchy defined in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement which calegorises inputs to
valuation techniques Into Levels 1-3 based on the degree to which the fair value 1s observable

Comparison of fair value of financial instruments with their carrying amounts

The carrying amounts of the Company's Intercompany loan receivables and trade payables are considered to be approximate to their farr
values

Capita! risk management

Details of the Group's capital nsk management strategy can be found on page 15 The capital structure of the Company 15 as follows

1 Apni

2016 2015 2014

£m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents - 15 -
Net debt - 15 -
Equity attnbutable to the owners of the Group 3,546 8 3,278 6 3,097 0
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35. Financial instruments (continued)

Financial risk management

The Group's aclivities expose it to a number of financial nsks market nsk {including nterest rate nisk and exchange rate nsk), credit nsk,
hquidhty nsk and inflation nsk Detalds of the nature of each of these risks along with the steps the Group has taken to manage them is
descnibed on page 15 The Company's activities expose it to ¢credit and bquidity nsk

(a) Credit risk

The Gompany's maximum exposure to credit nisk I1s the carrying amount of financial assels recorded in the financial statements, which 1s
net of impairment losses, therefore the maximum exposure to credit nsk at the year end date was £3,678 5 million (2015 £3,343 3m)

(b}Liquidity risk

Details of the nature and management of the Group's liquidity risk 1s provided on page 16

The matunty profile of the Company’s financial labilities disclosed In the statement of financial position are given below

2016
£m
Within one year 1327
Between one and two years -
Between two and three years -
Between three and four years -
Between four and five years -
After more than five years -
Total 1327
36. Statement of cash flows
Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows
2016 2015
£m £m
Profit for the financial year 268 2 2447
Less finance income {335 2} (309 7)
Add taxation on profit on ordinary activities 670 650

Cash generated from operations - -
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37. Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

This 15 the first tme that the Company has presented its annual financial statements under IFRS The policies applied in these financial
statements are based on the IFRS, 1AS and IFRIC interpretations 1ssued and effective and ratified by the European Union as of 9 June
2016, the date that the Board of Directors approved the statements The Company's previously reported resulls for the year ended 31
March 2015 have been restated, the date of transition to IFRS being 1 Apnil 2014

In accordance with IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards the Company's accounting policies under
IFRS have been applied retrospectively at the date of transition, with the exception of a number of permitted exemptions

In preparing the financial statements for the parent company no transition or reclassification adjustments have been identified Accordingly
there has been no restatement of the comparative figures prepared in accordance with previous UK GAAP It has therefore not been
deemed necessary to present lables showing a reconcihation of balances prepared under previous UK GAAP to IFRS within these financial
statements
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38. Subsidiaries,
subsidiary undertakings

associated undertakings,

and significant holdings other than

Proportion of

Country of Class of voting rights

Prncipal undartaking incorporation shares held and shares
Direct
Kemble Water Eurcbond Plc Holding Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Indirect
Kemble Water Liberty Limited Dormant Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Kemble Water Structure Lirmiled Dormant Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Kemble Water Investments Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Kemble Water Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Crdinary 100%
Thames Water Holdings Limited Dormant Company United Kingdem Ordmnary 100%
Kemble Water Finance Limited Holding Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Commercial Ventures Finance Limited Holding Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Commercial Ventures Holdings Limited Holding Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Commercial Services Limited Commercial Water United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water {Kemble) Finance Plg Finance company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Insurance Company Limited Insurance company Guemnsey Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Limited Holding company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Utilies Liminted Waler & wastewater United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Kennet Properties Limited Property company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Utilities Cayman Finance Limited Finance company Cayman Islands Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Ullities Finance Limited Finance company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Limited Holding Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Utilities Holdings Limited Holding Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Utilities Cayman Finance Holdings Limited  Holding Company Cayman Islands Ordinary 100%
Country Wide Collections Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Foudry properties Limited Property Company United Kingdom Qrdinary 50%
Shapeshare Limited Property Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
PCI Membrane Systems Limited Dormant Company Uniuted Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Portacel Limited Holding Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Chlornination Equipment Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Simon N-Viro Limited Dormant Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Stella Meta-Filters Limited Holding Company United Kingdom CQrcinary 100%
Thames Water Products FWT Limited Dormant Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Products Overseas Limited Holding Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
PWT Projects Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water (UK) Pension Trustees Limited Pension Trustees United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Developments Limited Property Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Innova Park Management Company Limited Property Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Drainage Services Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Crdinary 100%
Thames Water Environmental Services Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Sub-Scan Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
S Holdings Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Subtrenic Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Pipeline Solutions Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Total Pipeline Solutions Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Tharmes Water Dorm 1 Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
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B O P Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Healthcare Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water International Service Holdings Limited Holding Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Overseas Limited Holding Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Asia PTE Limiuted Legacy Invesiment Singapore Ordinary 100%
Thames Water International (Thailand) Limited Legacy Investment Thalland Ordinary 100%
Thames Water DO Brasd Limitada Legacy Investment Brazil Ordinary 100%
Thames Water International Services Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Investments Limited Property Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Trans4M Lirmted Legacy Investment United Kingdom Ordinary 25%

Thames Water Nominees Limited Pension Trustees United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Overseas Consultancy Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Pension Trustees (MIS) Limited Pension Trustees United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Pension Trustees Limited Pension Trustees United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Procurement Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Products Lirted Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Memtech (UK) Limited Dormant Company United Kingdem Ordinary 100%
T M Products Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Products SH Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Coplastix Limrnted Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Stockdale Filtration Systems Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Products UPE Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Haymills Engingenng Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Products Castings Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Products Coatings Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Waler Products SGE Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Products UPEI Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water property Services Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Surta Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Retail Limited Dormant Company United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
The Water Quahty Centre Limited Dormant Company Urited Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Puerto Rico Inc Legacy Investment Puerto Rico Ordinary 100%
Thames-Dick Superagueduct Partners inc Legacy Investment Puerto Rico Ordinary 99 9%
Thames Water Semor Executive Pension Trustees Limited  Pension Truslees United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Thames Water Share Scheme Trustees Limited Penston Trustees United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
Walter Projects Internabional Limited Legacy Investment United Kingdom Ordinary 100%
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Glossary

AMP adjustment - The revision 1n the real value of fixed assets ansing penodically from improved information in the five-year Asset
Management Plan process

Appoeinted business — The appointed business comprises the regulated activities of the Company which are activities necessary in order
for the Company to fulfi! the function and duties of a water and sewerage underlaker under the Water Industry Act 1991

Arm’s-length trading — Trading in which the Company treats the other parly, usually an associate company on the same basis as an
external party

Asset Management Plan {“AMP"") — An AMP is the five-year period covered by a water company's business plan These are numbered,
with AMP1 refernng to the first such planning peniod after the water industry was privatised —1 e the penod from 1990 to 1995 The current
penod (2015 - 2020} 1s known as AMP6, and the period for which we are now starting to plan (2020 — 2025) will be AMP?

Associate company - Condition A of the Licence defines an associate company to be any group or related company Condition F of the
Licence requires all transactions between the Company and its associated companies to be disclosed subject to specified matenality
considerations

C17 - The Water Act 2014 wilt allow 1 2 millon businesses and other non-household customers of prowiders based mainly or wholly in
England to chocse their supplier of water and wastewater retall services from April 2017 Retall services include things like billing and
customer services At the moment only a hmited number of non-household customers across England and Wales can choose their retailer
The new market will be the largest retall water market 1n the world Custorners will be able to shop around and swiich to the best deal
Investors and retalers will have new opporturilies for growth And the envircnment will benefit from customers using new water efficient
services The UK Government (s committed to delivenng the new market it set up ‘Open Water', a single programme of work that brings
together all of the key organisations 1o design and deliver the new market These include the Depariment for Envronment Food and Rural
Affairs, Ofwat and Market Operator Services Limited — a private company owned by market participants Thames Water has a programme
of business readiness for Competition 2017, to ensure we are ready for market operung from April 2017

Cost - The actual cost to the supplier, of the goods, works or services, Including a reasonable rate of return on capital employed Unless
the circumstances of the transaction prowde a convincing case for the use of an alternative measure, the return on capital should be
consistent with the cost of capital/ net retall margin as set out in Ofwat's final determunation of 12 December 2014 (or any other
determination apphcable in the 2015-20 period)

Cost allocation - Cost allocation s the means by which all costs are allocated to appointed and non-appointed businesses, price control
units, or specific supplies, works and services, ensuring a fair share of overheads, even where costs cannot be directly attnbuted to specific
activities and associated services

Cost driver - A cost driver 1s the factor or factors which cause cost to occur This can be further divided between the drniver that causes an
activity to occur, and a driver that determines how often it occurs Costs may vary In relation to the cost dnver over the short or longer term,
depending on the nature of cost concerned

CPI - The Consumer Prices Index ("CPI") 15 a measure of economic inflation based on a set senes of goods and services set by the Olfice
for National Statistics This 1s the headline measure of inflation used in the Government's target for inflabon

Cross-subsidy - Cross-subsidy in this context 1s monetary aid or contributions from the appointee to the associate, or between pnce
control units, which does not reflect the value of the services received It also relates to services provided by the appointee to associate
companies where there has been an under-recovery of costs incurred by the appointee

CSAT - Short for “customer satistaction”, this refers to the qualhtative component of the SIM measure

Customer numbers - To ensure consistency with the way in which pnce controls have been set for 2015/20, customer numbers when
used as a cost allocation metnc 18 equal to 1 0 for single-service (water or wastewater only) customers and 1 3 for dual-service (water and

wastewater) customers

Customer side leakage (“CSL") - leakage resulting from leaks from customer side pipes that form part of our treated water distrnbution
network

Final determination — The conclusion of discussions on the scale and content of the asset management plan for the forthcoming hive-year
AMP peniod It 1s accompanied by a determination of the allowable K faclor for the forthcorming AMP

Financing adjustment — The impact of RPI on the real value of net finance for the business
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FTEs - For the purposes of cost allocation, full-tme eguivalents (“FTEs") should include all full-ime staff, and contractors/ temporary staft
directly employed Where there 1s an existing contractual arrangement in place with an associate or third party (for example a third party
billing arrangement), FTEs will include all full-ime staff, and contractors/ temporary staff directly employed by the associate or third party
involved in providing that service to the appointee

Households - These are properties used as single domestic dwellings (normally occupted), recemving water for domestic purposes which
are not factones, offices or commercial premises These include cases where a single aggregate bill 1s 1ssued 1o cover separate dwellings
having individual standing charges (In some instances, the standing charge may be zero ) The number of dwellings attracting an indivmdual
standing charge and not the number of bills should be counted Mixed/ commercial properies and multiple household properties — for
example, blocks of flats having only one standing charge - should be excluded

infrastructure and non-infrastructure assets - Infrasiructure assets are matnly our below-ground assets, such as pipes, water mamns,
sewers, dams and reservoirs Non-infrastructure assets are those mainly tound above ground, such as water and sewage treatment works,
pumping stations, laboratories and workshops

Instrument of Appointment - Water companies operating the public water networks hold appointments as water undertakers, and those
operating the public wastewater networks hold appointments as sewarage undertakers, for the purposes of the Water Industry Act 1991
They also supply water and wastewater services direct to household and non-household customers who are ¢onnected to therr networks

Licence — The Instrument of Appoiniment dated August 1989 under Section 11 and 14 of the Water Act 1989 (as in effect on 1 August
1989) under which the Secretary of State for the Environment appointed Thames Water Utties Limited as a water and sewerage
undertaker under the Act for the areas descnbed in the Instrument of Appointment, as modified or amended from time to ime

Measured - These are properties where some or all of the charges for supplies are based on measured quantities of volumes

Modern Equivalent Asset (“MEA”) — The cost of an asset of equivalent productive capabihty to satisfy the remaining service potental of
the asset being valued if the asset would be worth replacing or the recoverable amount if t would not The gross MEA value is what 1t
would cost to replace an old assel with a technically up to date new asset with the same service capability allowing for any difference both
in the quality of output and in operating costs  The net MEA value 1s the depreciated value taking into account the remaining service
potential of an old asset compared with a new asset, and Is stated gross of third-party contributions

Non-appointed business - The non-appointed business activittes of the Company are activities for which the Company as a waler and
sewerage undertaker 1s not a monopoly suppler (for example, the sale of laboratory services to an external orgamisation} or involves the
optional use of an asset owned by the Company (for example, the use of underground assets tor cable television)

Non-households - These are properties receiving water for domestic purposes but which are not occupied as domeshic premises, or
where domestic dwellings are combined with other properties, or where properties are in multiple occupation but only have one standing
charge Inthis case, it I1s the number of bills that should be counted

Outcome Delivery Incentive (“ODI”) — ODIs 1s a collective term for the financial incentives — positive and negative — that Ofwat has
applied to the delivery of our five-year plan 'Rewards’ allow us to charge more over the next five years (in this case, 2020-2025), while
‘penalties’ allows us to charge less Some of these ODIs measure performance in each of the five years of our current plan, while others
apply only to the whole five years

Ofwat — The name used to refer to the Water Services Regulation Authonty (WSRA) The WSRA acts as the economic regulator of the
water mdustry

Operating Company (“Opco”) — The Company has four distinct opcos (not separate legal entities) consisting of retall household, retail
non-household, wholesale water and wholesale wastewater Each opco 15 responsible for its own planning, operational and investment
decisions To facilitate decision making there are separate managemen! structures and executive teams in place in each operating
company

Opex - Pay for the day-to-day operations of our business, such as operating and maintaining our network and treatment works, paying our
staff and our energy bills This 1s known as operational expenditure or opex

Performance Commitment (“PC”) - Outcome petformance commitments that reflects customers’ views and prionties of service

Periodic Review (“PR”) — The price determination process undertaken by Ofwat every five years Each water and sewerage undertaker
submits an Asset Management Flan covening the five-year penod for which Ofwat wiil determine prices (the K factor — see above)

Price control units - At the 2014 price review Ofwat intreduced separate binding pnce controls These include wholesale water, whotesale
wastewater, retall household and retail non household

Rant & Rave - Ofwat measures customer satisfaction on a quarterly basis, but we have worked with customer expenence company Rant &
Rave to measure this around the clock so that we can better assess our performance When we have resolved a customer's 1ssue, we
send them a lext message asking them to score our response on a scale of one to five The data from this 1s known as “Rant & Rave”

Regulatory Accounting Guidelines (“RAG”) — The accounting guidelines for regulatory accounts issued, and amended from time to
time, by Ofwat

78




Kemble Water Holdings Limited
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2016
Glossary

Regulatory Capital Value (“RCV") — The capital base used in seiting price mits The vatue of the appointed business that eams a return
on investment It represents the initial market value (200-day average), including debt at privatisation, plus subsequent net new capital
expenditure including new obligations imposed since 1989 The capital value 1s calculated using the Ofwat methodology (1 e after current
coslt depreciation and infrastructure renewals accrual)

Retall - This term refers to any water company activities that take place once waler has passed to the customer’s side of a property
boundary These include biling, payment handling, debt management, meter reading and handling billing related calls

Retail Price index (“RPI”) — The RP| s compiled and published monthly by the Office for National Statistics RPI s an average measure
of change n the pnces of goods and services bought for the purpose of consumption by the vast majonty of households in the United
Kingdom

Service Incentive Mechamsm (“SIM”) — The Service Incentive Mechanism was tntroduced by Ofwat to replace the OPA as a measure of
the service customers expenience from thewr water company 1t is now in Its second year There are two elements to the SIM = A
guantitative measure awards penalty points for 1Issues ranging from callers to our customer centre receving an engaged tene, through to
complaints « A qualitative measure 1s calculated via telephone interviews to assess the satisfaction of customers who have contacted us to
resolve queries

Third-party contributions since 1989/90 ~ Grants and third-party contnbutions received in respect of infrastructure assets and any
deferred income relating to grants and third-party contnbutions for non-infrastruclure assets

Totex - Total expenditure (“totex”) 1s the mechanism, introduced in PR14 (prce review 2014) for planning and reporting capital (for
example, buying a new car) and operational {repainng your old car) spend The object 1s to achieve the optimum combination to delver the
required business plan outcomes It applies to both water and waste (1 e our wholesale business) but net to retail

Thames Tideway Tunnel {"TTT") - The Thames Tideway Tunnel 1s a major new sewer, urgently needed to protect the tidal River Thames
from pollution London's sewerage system 1s no longer fit for purpose and spills milions of tonnes of sewage into the tidal section of the
nver every year The tunne! will tackle the problem of overflows from the capital's Victonan sewers for at least the next 100 years, and
enable the UK to meet European environmental standards

Transfer pricing - A transfer price 1s the price paid by one group company to another for transactions between the two companies or for
transactions within the appointee between price control units or between appointed and non-appointed business

Unmeasured - These are properties where none of the charges for supplies are based on measured quantihes of volumes These nclude
properties which receive an assessed charge because metenng 15 not possible or economic

Water 2020 - An Ofwal work programme, which aims to establish what will be required of water and sewerage companes in the 2019
Price Review

Wholesale - This term covers all water company activities that take place before water passes the customer's property boundary —
resources management, abstraction, treatment, distribution (water and sewer networks), sewage collection, transportation, sewage
treatment, sludge disposal and energy from waste

Working capital — The aggregate of stocks, trade debtors and trade creditors, if matenal

Working capital adjustment — The impact of RPI on the real value of working capital to the business

Water Resource Management Plan (“WRMP") - Our 25-year Water Resources Management Plan 1s updated every five years and sets
out how we aim to meet the predicted demand for water in our region over that period
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